Georgia State University

ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Biology Dissertations

Department of Biology

12-2020

Microbial Bioconversion of Polypropylene by Yarrowia Lipolytica: Enhancing Bioconversion and Lipogenesis through Optimization of Fermentation Parameters

Merhawi Mihreteab

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/biology_diss

Recommended Citation

Mihreteab, Merhawi, "Microbial Bioconversion of Polypropylene by Yarrowia Lipolytica: Enhancing Bioconversion and Lipogenesis through Optimization of Fermentation Parameters." Dissertation, Georgia State University, 2020.

doi: https://doi.org/10.57709/20283142

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Biology at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Biology Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

MICROBIAL BIOCONVERSION OF POLYPROPYLENE BY YARROWIA LIPOLYTICA: ENHANCING BIOCONVERSION AND LIPOGENESIS THROUGH OPTIMIZATION OF FERMENTATION PARAMETERS

by

MERHAWI MIHRETEAB

Under the Direction of Eric S Gilbert, PhD

ABSTRACT

Plastic waste can serve as a feedstock for microbial bioconversion using a chemical/biological hybrid strategy. In this work, a bioconversion process for polypropylene (PP) to produce value-added oleochemicals was reported. This bioconversion process coupled thermal depolymerization with fermentation by the oleaginous yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. PP pellets were depolymerized by pyrolysis, generating oil that consisted of mainly branched chain fatty alcohols and alkenes. The oil was mixed with biodegradable surfactants and nutrients and mechanically homogenized. The resulting medium, termed OP4, was used for fermentation by *Y. lipolytica* strain 78-003. *Y. lipolytica* assimilated > 80% of the substrate over 312 h, including 86% of the fatty alcohols. *Y. lipolytica* produced up to 540 mg L⁻¹ lipids, compared with 216 mg L⁻¹ during growth in surfactant-based control medium. C 18 compounds, including oleic acid, linoleic acid, and stearic acid, were

the predominant products, followed by C 16 compounds palmitic and palmitoleic acid. Subsequently, an improved process was developed resulting in a PP-derived growth medium called OP5 that did not contain the emulsifier oleic acid and derived 81 percent of its carbon from PP. To improve on product yields during growth in OP5 medium, pH, inoculum density, C/N ratio, and osmolarity were optimized. This increased the product yield four-fold to 2.1 g L⁻¹, and led to 46 percent cellular lipid content, the highest content reported to date for plastic-to-lipid microbial bioconversion. The maximum lipid yield occurred under conditions that balanced cell growth versus lipogenesis. Using postconsumer PP, the lipid yield was significantly lower (0.74 g L⁻¹), likely due to toxic additives necessary for product stabilization. Overall, the work demonstrates the potential and the challenges associated with microbial bioconversion of plastics.

MICROBIAL BIOCONVERSION OF POLYPROPYLENE BY YARROWIA LIPOLYTICA: ENHANCING BIOCONVERSION AND LIPOGENESIS THROUGH OPTIMIZATION OF FERMENTATION PARAMETERS

by

MERHAWI MIHRETEAB

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in the College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

2020

Copyright by Merhawi Mihreteab 2020

MICROBIAL BIOCONVERSION OF POLYPROPYLENE BY YARROWIA LIPOLYTICA: ENHANCING BIOCONVERSION AND LIPOGENESIS THROUGH OPTIMIZATION OF FERMENTATION PARAMETERS

by

MERHAWI MIHRETEAB

Committee Chair: Eric S Gilbert

Committee: George E. Pierce

Sidney J. Crow

Christopher T. Cornelison

Electronic Version Approved:

Office of Graduate Services

College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

December 2020

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this work to the Mr. Mihreteab Woldegiorgis and Mrs. Saba Asihel, the strongest and most caring individuals I have ever known. Thank you for cultivating my curiosity, and never letting me succumb to challenges, but instilling in me the dogged perseverance that drives me today. I would also like to thank Yohana Mihreteab, Nahoam Mihreteab, Desalegn Ogbamichael, and Jerusalem Tekle for supporting me always, and being there whenever I needed you. This is for you.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Eric Gilbert for his support and crucial guidance throughout my doctoral work. I would also like to thank Dr. Bryan Stubblefield, Dr. Mariya Campbell, Dr. Ariel Santiago, Mr. Sean Ray, Mr. Tao Tong, Ms. Jun Zhao, and Mr. Hassan Rhibiny of the Gilbert lab for their advice and support throughout my journey. I would also like to thank Dr. Kelly Cannon, Dr. Nosazema Amadusan, Dr. Maurice De La Croix, Dr. Joshua Renfroe, and Dr. Carlos Vasquez of the Pierce lab for their assistance and camaraderie throughout my arduous journey. I would also like to thank Dr. Chris Cornelison for giving me the initial opportunity to begin my graduate scientific career, as well as Mr. Blake Cherney and Mr. Shashank Dakur of the Crow lab for their mentorship early in my graduate career. I would also like to thank my committee, consisting of Dr. Eric Gilbert, Dr. George Pierce, Dr. Sidney Crow, and Dr. Chris Cornelison for their expertise and guiding influence throughout my doctoral journey.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	XI
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XV
1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Plastics: versatile materials, abundant waste	1
1.1.1 The Waste Problem	1
1.1.2 Polypropylene	2
1.2 Valorizing plastic waste to reduce plastic pollution	2
1.2.1 Bioconversion: a renewable solution	2
1.2.2 Therapeutics	
1.2.3 Industrial chemicals production	
1.2.4 Biofuels	
1.2.5 A blueprint for the bioconversion of plastics	6
1.3 Lipid storage and Y. lipolytica	6
1.3.1 Lipids in cell physiology and metabolism	6
1.3.2 The storage of neutral lipids	7
1.3.3 Yarrowia lipolytica	
1.4 Hypotheses and project objectives	

2 MIC	ROBIAL BIOCONVERSION OF THERMALLY DEPOLYMERIZED
POL	YPROPYLENE BY YARROWIA LIPOLYTICA FOR FATTY ACID
PRO	DUCTION 11
2.1 In	ntroduction
2.2 M	lethods13
2.2.1	Polypropylene Growth Medium Preparation
2.2.2	Chemicals and Reagents
2.2.3	Cultures and Growth Conditions
2.2.4	Microscopy for Imaging Oil Droplet Production14
2.2.5	Intracellular Lipid Quantification15
2.2.6	GC/MS Analysis of Lipid Profile15
2.2.7	Pyrolysis oil characterization via GC/MS16
2.2.8	Substrate Degradation Analysis16
2.2.9	Growth Measurements 17
2.2.10	Cyclohexane toxicity assay 17
2.3 R	esults
2.3.1	Polypropylene thermal depolymerization
2.3.2	Analyzing Y. lipolytica growth and activity in OP4 medium: comparisons with a
	'surfactant control' medium19
2.3.3	Measuring Y. lipolytica growth

2.3.4	OP4 uptake during growth
2.3.5	Impact of OP4 components on growth and FA production
2.3.6	Effect of cycloalkanes on Y. lipolytica growth
2.3.7	Microscopy analysis of lipid accumulation
2.3.8	Fatty acid yields during growth in OP4 medium versus surfactant control 23
2.3.9	Effect of lipids or carbohydrates on FA production
3 ENH	ANCING POLYPROPYLENE BIOCONVERSION AND LIPOGENESIS BY
YAR	ROWIA LIPOLYTICA THROUGH OPTIMIZATION OF FERMENTATION
PAR	AMETERS
3.1 In	troduction
3.2 M	aterials and Methods
3.2.1	Chemicals and Reagents
3.2.2	Polypropylene Growth Medium Preparation
3.2.3	Cultures and Fermentation Conditions
3.2.4	Growth Measurements
3.2.5	Microscopy
3.2.6	Fermentation Optimization
3.2.7	Substrate Assimilation Analysis
3.2.8	GC/MS analysis of OP5 hydrophobic fragments
3.2.9	OP5 medium components: impact on product yield

3.2.10	Intracellular Lipid Quantification
3.2.11	GC/MS Analysis of Lipid Profile
3.2.12	Postconsumer PP oil characterization via GC/MS
3.3 Ro	esults
3.3.1	OP5 medium composition
3.3.2	Growth and lipogenesis on OP5 versus OP4 medium
3.3.3	OP5 substrate uptake during fermentation
3.3.4	Starting medium pH and inoculum density significantly effect growth and
	lipogenesis
3.3.5	Carbon-to-nitrogen ratio optimization improves lipid yield
3.3.6	Increased osmolarity negatively affects lipogenesis
3.3.7	Y. lipolytica used PP from OP5 for lipid, biomass generation
3.3.8	Postconsumer PP oil carbon composition similar to virgin PP oil
3.3.9	Postconsumer polypropylene impacts Y. lipolytica lipogenesis
3.3.10	Fatty acid profiles for Y. lipolytica cells grown in OP5 or PCOP5 media
3.4 Di	scussion
4 CON	CLUSIONS
REFEREN	CES 59
APPENDIC	ES ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.
Appendix	A Error! Bookmark not defined.

Appendix A.1	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Appendix A.2	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Appendix B	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Appendix C	Error! Bookmark not defined.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Intracellular lipid yields by Y. lipolytica during growth in OP4 medium or its
components ^{ab}
Table 2.2 Fatty acid profiles of Y. lipolytica grown in OP4 medium or surfactant control
medium ^{ab}
Table 2.3 C 16 and C 18 FA profiles of <i>Y. lipolytica</i> growing on various media in this and other
work. Values are reported as percentages. After [36]
Table 3.1 Effect of pH and inoculum density (ID) on

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Carbon composition of PP oil after thermal depolymerization
Figure 2.2 Growth of <i>Y. lipolytica</i> in OP4 medium. (a) Growth in OP4 medium versus a
'surfactant control' medium. Growth was measured as cell dry weight. The 'surfactant
control' included all emulsifiers, nitrogen, phosphorous, and trace nutrient sources found
in OP4 medium but did not include PP-derived compounds. (b) OP4 medium use during
Y. lipolytica growth. The change in OP4 concentration was measured gravimetrically.
Fatty alcohol consumption was measured by GC/MS. Mean \pm SD plotted for each data
set
Figure 2.3 Growth on OP4, 'surfactant control', and their various individual components.
Growth was measured gravimetrically. Significance determined by ANOVA. Samples
were considered significantly different if $p < 0.05$. Treatments that share the same lower
case or upper case letter are not significantly different than one another
<i>Figure 2.4</i> Growth of <i>Y. lipolytica</i> on rich medium with and without 0.3% w/v cyclohexane.
Growth was measured as OD600 absorbance via spectrophotometer at various
timepoints. Significance determined by student's T-test. (**) indicates a significant
difference (p < 0.01) between treated samples and the untreated control
Figure 2.5 FA production during growth in OP4 medium. Cells were imaged after 96 h.
Magnification 400×. (a) left, OP4 medium; right and surfactant control. Note lipid
inclusion bodies in yellow. (b) Mean Nile Red fluorescence quantified by digital image
analysis

Figure	2.6 Analysis of fatty acid production by <i>Y. lipolytica</i> during growth on OP4 medium vs
S	surfactant control (a) total FA yield. (b) distribution of FAs by carbon number. (c)
(distribution of saturated and unsaturated FAs (d) distribution of unsaturated FAs

- Figure 3.3 Comparison of *Y. lipolytica* growth and lipid production during growth in OP4 medium versus OP5 medium. (a) biomass; (b) lipid yield; (c) lipid content per cell...... 43

Figure 3.8 (a) Growth, lipid production and lipid content for cells grown on either OP5 or
PCOP5 media; The corresponding cell lipid content is denoted above each graphic. Fatty
acid profiles of cells grown on (b) OP5 medium or (c) PCOP5 medium

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

PP: Polypropylene

FA: Fatty Acids

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Plastics: versatile materials, abundant waste

1.1.1 The Waste Problem

Plastics, synthetic polymers derived from hydrocarbons are an essential part of modern global society. Due to their low density, cheap production cost, malleability, durability, and low conductivity, plastics are often preferred over traditional materials such as wood, metal, and glass (Andrady and Neal 2009; Geyer et al. 2017; Hahladakis et al. 2018; North and Halden 2013). The properties of plastics that lend to their extensive applicability also make them resistant to biodegradation. Because of their sterically hindered structure, hydrophobicity, and high molecular weight, they cannot undergo efficient microbial catabolism. Consequently, plastics have become a growing burden upon the environment.

In 2015, approximately 322 million tons of plastic products were produced worldwide, up from 180 million tons in 2000 (Geyer et al. 2017). With an average Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of 8.6% since 1950, combined with the strong correlation between global plastic waste generation and gross national income per capita (Geyer et al. 2017; Markets 2017), plastic production and waste generation is likely to continue to rise as developing nations worldwide continue to grow economically (Markets 2017). Roughly 50% of all plastics produced annually are utilized for disposable applications such as packaging and are discarded within a year of production (Geyer et al. 2017; Hahladakis et al. 2018). It has been estimated that 6.3 billion tons of plastic waste has been generated since 1950, with 12% of this plastic waste having been incinerated, and only 9% being recycled, leaving roughly 4.9 billion tons of non-biodegradable plastic accumulating in landfills and contaminating marine and soil ecosystems (Geyer et al 2017.).

1.1.2 Polypropylene

Polypropylene, the focus of this work, comprises 23.4% of the global plastics market share and is the second most abundant plastic compound produced worldwide (Markets 2017; Prof_Research_Reports 2008). In 2016, 62.3 million tons of polypropylene were produced globally, and production is estimated to reach 83.5 million tons by 2022 (Markets 2017; Prof_Research_Reports 2008). This trend of increasing plastic use is likely to continue as developing nations worldwide grow economically, and consumer products are mass produced with as well as packaged in plastic (Andrady and Neal 2009; Geyer et al. 2017; Hopewell et al. 2009; Narancic and O'Connor 2017; North and Halden 2013; Wierckx et al. 2018), resulting in increased quantities of plastic waste entering the environment and the associated toxicological consequences.

1.2 Valorizing plastic waste to reduce plastic pollution

1.2.1 Bioconversion: a renewable solution

One component of a solution to plastic pollution is to reduce the amount of postconsumer plastic entering the environment. An important element in accomplishing this goal is to give postconsumer plastic waste some economic value, i.e. to valorize it, so it is not readily discarded. In principle, standard plastic recycling techniques meet this objective, but in practice, recycled plastic products cannot easily compete with products made from virgin materials, especially when the price of petroleum is low. Approaches are needed where the input costs are low, and the value of the output is high (Hopewell et al. 2009; Mantia 2004; Narancic and O'Connor Kevin 2017; Wierckx et al. 2018; Wierckx et al. 2015). A bioconversion process can be a viable solution to the plastic waste accumulation problem. Microbial bioconversion, the conversion of natural substrates into value-added products by microorganisms, has long been employed in industry. Several examples are presented in the following sections.

1.2.2 Therapeutics

Bioconversion has been a valuable process used in pharmaceutical production. Bioconversion, both cell-free enzymatic and whole cell bioconversion, can be used to produce antibiotics, antifungals, and anti-cancer agents. Bioconversion has been used to produce gramicidin S from immobilized *Bacillus brevis* cells (Vandamme 1981), glucoside derivatives from Tetracycline by *Bacillus lichenformis* enzymes (Pandey et al. 2018), and enzymes extracted from wastewater microbial communities to cleave and deactivate antibiotics in effluent (Zumstein and Helbling 2019). Antifungals have also been produced through bioconversion, as chitinase has been produced through both whole cell (Wang et al. 2005) and enzymatic (Asif et al. 2019) processes, and the novel antifungal Anidulafungin through expression of *Actinoplanes utahensis* deacytelase genes in *Streptococcus sp.* (Shao et al. 2013). Cancer therapeutics produced through bioconversion include arctigenin and orobol, compounds synthesized through enzymatic bioconversion (Abari and Tayebi 2019; Kim et al. 2020), and Matairesinol, a lignin-derived compounds produced through whole-cell bioconversion in recombinant *Escherichia coli* expressing reductases (Kuo et al. 2014).

1.2.3 Industrial chemicals production

Bioconversion is more often employed in industrial chemical production, for compounds used as preservatives, food flavorings, industrial and food dyes, in food and cosmetics industries, and as energy sources. Citric acid, a preservative and flavoring agent employed in a variety of roles, is produced through bioconversion of substrates such as agricultural waste and glycerol with *Aspergillus niger* (Alam et al. 2011; Jamal et al. 2007; Yang et al. 2014). Vanillin, and its derivative vanilic acid, is a compound derived from vanilla bean that is used widely in the food, cosmetics and pharmaceutical industries as a flavor enhancer, fragrance additive, and intermediary chemical (Abdelkafi et al. 2006; Di Gioia et al. 2009). Vanillin and vanillic acid are often derived through whole-cell bioconversion of ferulic acid, and in rare occasions lignocellulosic hydrolysate, by recombinant *E. coli* or halophilic bacteria (Abdelkafi et al. 2006; Di Gioia et al. 2009; Horvat et al. 2019; Luziatelli et al. 2019; Tang and Hassan 2020). Pigments, employed as food coloring or fabric dyes, can also be derived via bioconversion. Tea polyphenols have been used to produce red, yellow and orange pigments via enzymatic bioconversion with laccase enzymes (Wang et al. 2018). Another food product that can be derived via bioconversion are sugar alcohols, sugar derivatives that are commonly used as low-calorie sweeteners. These sugar alcohols are often derived from starch hydrolysate, oil waste, and glycerol bioconversion by yeast such as *Aspergillus tereus*, *Y. lipolytica, Candida magnoliae, Candida tropicalis*, and *Debaryomyces guillermondii* (Arruda and Felipe 2008; da Silva et al. 2018; Li et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2019; Miura et al. 2015; Paidimuddala 2014; Yang et al. 2015a).

1.2.4 Biofuels

Maybe the most popular use of microbial bioconversion is the production of biofuels, energy sources derived from biomass, such as bioalcohols, biodiesel, methanol, and biohydrogen. Biofuels are often split up into first and second generation biofuels. First generation biofuels are produced from a feedstock that is unsustainable or, like sugars derived from food crops and cooking oils, negatively affects the food supply. In contrast, second generation biofuels are synthesized from sustainable and non-edible substrates such as lignocellulosic and hemicellulosic biomass, cooking waste, and algal feedstock (Bialy et al. 2011). Yeast and algae are the most employed biocatalysts for biofuel production (Canilha et al. 2012; Marella et al. 2018; Nanda et al. 2014; Saini et al. 2020; Yan et al. 2014). Ethanol, the earliest synthesized biofuel and the most abundant substance produced through bioconversion, is often synthesized by yeast that can undergo substrate-level fermentation such as *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Canilha et al. 2012; Gregg and Saddler 1995; Parmar and Rupasinghe 2013; Yu et al. 2019). Glucose derived from food crop, crop waste, and crop waste hydrolysates are the usual feedstocks, and while *S. cerevisiae* is oft utilized, *Pichia sp., Aspergillus sp., Candida sp.,* and even bacteria such as *Clostridium beijerickii* can be employed to produce ethanol and other bioalcohols, such as butanol, 1,3 propanediol, and propanol (Arruda and Felipe 2008; Canilha et al. 2012; Gregg and Saddler 1995; Huang et al. 2014; Huang et al. 2017; Jutakridsada et al. 2019; Kreuger et al. 2011; Li et al. 2015; Nanda et al. 2014; Niehus et al. 2018; Paidimuddala 2014; Parmar and Rupasinghe 2013; Yu et al. 2019; Zheng et al. 2012; Zhu et al. 2012)

Biodiesel is a hydrophobic energy source derived from glucose, glycerol, and animal and vegetable oil and oil waste as feedstocks. Biodiesel is often produced by oleaginous microbes as whole cell biocatalysts to produce excess storage lipids, which are then recovered and derivatized prior to use (Abghari and Chen 2014; Chai et al. 2019; Fontanille et al. 2012; Huang et al. 2014; Huang et al. 2017; Marella et al. 2018; Tai and Stephanopoulos 2013; Yan et al. 2014). Oleaginous microbes are microbes that can accumulate a large amount of storage lipids as a physiological response to nutrient availability (Abghari and Chen 2014; Ageitos et al. 2011; Bialy et al. 2011; Kitcha and Cheirsilp 2011; Papanikolaou and Aggelis 2011). These include algae such as *Chlorella sp., Morterella sp., and Mycene sp., and Yarrowia lipolytica* (Ageitos et al. 2011; Kitcha and Cheirsilp 2011; Papanikolaou and Aggelis 2011). Often, to improve yield, organisms are engineered to over-produce storage lipids, *allowing* some yeast and algae, such as *Y. lipolytica*, to

accumulate up to 80% of their cell weight as lipids (Abdel-Mawgoud et al. 2018; Friedlander et al. 2016; Kamisaka et al. 2007; Lazar et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2015; Marella et al. 2018; Qiao et al. 2015; Tai and Stephanopoulos 2013; Xu et al. 2016).

1.2.5 A blueprint for the bioconversion of plastics

Microbial bioconversion technology can be an viable strategy for reducing postconsumer plastic waste (Narancic and O'Connor Kevin 2017; Silva et al. 2018; Wierckx et al. 2015). Specifically, microbial growth media prepared from depolymerized plastics can be used as feedstocks for bioconversion processes (Guzik et al. 2014; Mihreteab et al. 2019). The rationale for this concept has two parts: first, several kinds of postconsumer plastics can be depolymerized into mixtures of labile molecules (Guzik et al. 2014; Mihreteab et al. 2019; Scott et al. 1990; Soják et al. 2007) and second, microbes can synthesize triacylglycerols, organic acids, enzymes and other biological products as they grow on the plastic-derived media (Fickers et al. 2005; Thevenieau et al. 2010). Depolymerized polystyrene, polyethylene, and polyethylene terephthalate (PET) have previously been employed as substrates for microbial production of biopolymers (Guzik et al. 2014; Kenny et al. 2008; Ward et al. 2006), and this valorization strategy may be employed to generate a variety of other products from other plastics, such as polypropylene.

1.3 Lipid storage and Y. lipolytica

1.3.1 Lipids in cell physiology and metabolism

Lipids are classified as small biomolecules which are insoluble in water, but can be solubilized in organic solvents (Mlíčková et al. 2004; Murphy 2001; Papanikolaou and Aggelis 2011).Lipids are crucial for cell structure synthesis and integrity, energy storage and production, intercellular and intracellular signaling, and apoptosis and membrane fusion mediators(Mlíčková et al. 2004; Murphy 2001; Papanikolaou and Aggelis 2011; Saini et al. 2020). There are eight types of lipids : fatty acids, polyketides, sterols and sterol derivatives, glycerolipids, phospholipids, sphingolipids, and prenols (Klug and Daum 2014; Mlíčková et al. 2004; Murphy 2001; Papanikolaou and Aggelis 2011). The lipid types being explored as products of the bioconversion process are storage lipids. To avoid lipid toxicity and membrane disruptions due to excess polar lipids, organisms store surplus fatty acids and sterols as biologically inert storage lipids in the form of triacylglycerols (TAGs) and sterol ester (SEs). These reservoir lipids serve as reserve energy sources (TAGs) and membrane lipid constituents (SEs).

1.3.2 The storage of neutral lipids

These inert lipid molecules are stored in cellular structures known as lipid droplets, or lipid bodies. Lipid droplets are composed internal of TAGs and surrounded by multiple layers of SEs (Mlíčková et al. 2004; Murphy 2001). When the cell, due to nutrient limitations or physiological stressors, requires energy, TAGs are hydrolyzed by TAG lipases into free fatty acids, which are further oxidized and processed via catabolic pathways for ATP production, incorporated into cell membranes, used as signaling molecules, or used a building blocks for more complex lipid molecules (Mlíčková et al. 2004; Papanikolaou and Aggelis 2011; Rostron and Lawrence 2017). SEs are mobilized by SE hydrolysases into sterols and incorporates into cell and organelle membranes when needed. TAGs are of specific commercial interest due to their versatile and impactful uses in a variety of industries, including as edible vegetable oil alternatives, intermediate chemicals, lubricants, surfactants, cosmetic and pharmaceutical emulsifiers and stabilizers, and biofuels (Dulermo et al. 2015; Klug and Daum 2014; Murphy 2001; Paik et al. 2009; Papanikolaou and Aggelis 2011; Rostron and Lawrence 2017).

1.3.3 Yarrowia lipolytica

The microbe of interest for the bioconversion process being employed is *Y. lipolytica*, a well characterized, non-conventional dimorphic yeast. *Y. lipolytica* can grow on a wide variety of hydrophobic substrates and can produce a wide array of intracellular and extracellular products, including storage lipids, free fatty acids, organic acids, and extracellular enzymes and other proteins (citations from previous paper, plus new ones). *Y. lipolytica* is an oleaginous yeast and can produce high lipid yields when grown on appropriate carbon sources, leading to its application in biodiesel production. Its heavily studied genome and metabolism allows *Y. lipolytica* to be altered to increase both the volume and variety of compounds it can generate ().

Previous works have employed *Y. lipolytica* to derive microbial lipids from carbon sources varying from lignocellulosic biomass, crude glycerol, glucose, corn hydrolysate, and waste cooking oil. Wild-type and engineered *Y. lipolytica* strains have used these substrates to generate yields as high as 20 g L⁻¹ and 70% cell lipid content (citations from discussion of first paper, plus new sources). Its ability to utilize varying carbon sources, its well-defined and easily engineered genome, and its oleagenicity make *Y. lipolytica* an ideal model organism for the bioconversion of polypropylene to produce high lipid titers.

1.4 Hypotheses and project objectives

The major aim of this project was to create a bioprocess that valorizes PP plastic. This is a novel undertaking for two reasons: (1) there has never been any research published on PP bioconversion or (2) plastic-to-lipid bioconversion. While there has been previous plastic bioconversion work done using polyethylene, PET and polystyrene (Guzik et al. 2014; Kenny et al. 2008; Ward et al. 2006), there has never been published works detailing a bioconversion process

utilizing PP plastic. Of the previous plastic bioconversion works, all centered using polyethylene and polystyrene polymers to produce the biodegradable polymers polyhydroxyalkanoate and polyhydroxybutyrate and did not endeavor to produce any oleochemicals. PP plastic was picked for the bioprocess because of its relative abundance in the environment, and because there have not been previous attempts to use PP plastic to produce value added chemicals

My process would employ a pretreatment procedure to depolymerize the monomers comprising PP plastic, creating a bioavailable hydrocarbon-rich feedstock. I hypothesized that successful depolymerization of PP would create a hydrocarbon-rich medium that can further be emulsified and supplemented with nutrients to make a viable microbial medium for lipid production. The project aims were to use *Y. lipolytica* as a microbial cell factory for bioconversion of this PP-derived medium. *Y. lipolytica*'s ability to utilize a wide variety of carbon sources, especially hydrocarbons, makes it an appealing microbe for the bioprocess. *Y. lipolytica's* oleagenicity also gives us a valuable end product, as storage lipids potentially have commercial value. This bioprocess would demonstrate successful valorization off PP plastic, showing it can be used as a carbon source for microbial lipid production.

After proof of concept, I then aimed to improve the process efficiency by optimizing medium and fermentation conditions to maximize lipid production. There were two strategies I considered: (1) metabolic engineering of the *Y. lipolytica* strain to increase lipid storage, and (2) process and fermentation engineering to create a medium and fermentation process optimal for lipid production for the specific *Y. lipolytica* strain. My work focused on the second strategy.

After creating a refined medium and fermentation process tailored to lipid production by our *Y lipolytica* strain, I aimed to replicate the process using postconsumer PP waste. Initial studies employed research grade virgin PP pellets, which allowed for replicable and consistent feedstock generation; yet this feedstock did not accurately represent postconsumer PP waste, which contains added compounds and stabilizers, and has been exposed to environmental stressors. Incorporating postconsumer PP waste investigated real-world applicability. In this work, I present the findings.

2 MICROBIAL BIOCONVERSION OF THERMALLY DEPOLYMERIZED POLYPROPYLENE BY *YARROWIA LIPOLYTICA* FOR FATTY ACID PRODUCTION

2.1 Introduction

Plastic pollution is an environmental threat that continues to expand in scope. In 2015, more than 320 million tons of plastic products were produced worldwide, up from 180 million tons in 2000 (Prof_Research_Reports 2008). With an average Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of 8.6% since 1950 (Geyer et al. 2017), combined with the strong correlation between global plastic waste generation and gross national income per capita (Geyer et al. 2017), plastic production and waste generation are likely to continue to rise as developing nations worldwide continue to grow economically (Geyer et al. 2017; Markets 2017; Prof_Research_Reports 2008). Of concern, if historic trends continue, a significant fraction of plastic can be expected to reach the environment: of the estimated 6.3 billion tons of plastic waste generated since 1950, 12% was incinerated and 9% was recycled, leaving approximately 4.9 billion tons of plastic accumulating in landfills and marine and soil ecosystems (Geyer et al. 2017).

One facet of a solution to plastic pollution is to reduce the amount of postconsumer plastic entering the environment. An important element in accomplishing this goal is to give postconsumer plastic waste economic value, i.e. to valorize it, so it is not readily discarded. Standard plastic recycling techniques generally yield materials that are of lower quality than the initial product, resulting in "downcycling", or a loss of value (Mantia 2004). In contrast, a biological approach to recycling plastic waste can potentially be economically sustainable: plastic waste can be used as feedstocks for bioconversion processes to make biochemicals and other valueadded biological products, resulting in "upcycling". The rationale for this concept has two parts: first, several kinds of postconsumer plastics can be depolymerized into mixtures of labile molecules (4) and second, microbes can synthesize triacylglycerols, organic acids, enzymes and other biological products as they grow on plastic-derived media .This approach can be used to make products that justify the costs associated with recycling plastic waste.

Polypropylene (PP) comprises nearly 25 percent of the global plastics market share (Geyer et al. 2017), yet to date there are no reported microbial bioconversion processes for PP. A challenge for microbial metabolism of PP is its low bioavailability, resulting from its high molecular weight, hydrophobicity and a molecular structure that resists enzymatic attack (Arutchelvi et al. 2008; Jeyakumar et al. 2013; Longo et al. 2011). We hypothesized that a depolymerization pretreatment to generate PP-derived oligomers could aid in the production of a growth medium suitable for microbial bioconversion. We used pyrolysis to depolymerize and oxidize PP and then used biodegradable surfactants to disperse the resulting products in an aqueous medium suitable for microbial growth. The PP-derived growth medium was used for cultivating the oleaginous yeast Yarrowia lipolytica. Y. lipolytica grows on diverse substrates and produces a wide variety of intracellular and extracellular products, including fatty acids, organic acids, extracellular enzymes and other proteins (Abghari and Chen 2014; Ageitos et al. 2011; Aggelis 2002; Beopoulos et al. 2008; Bialy et al. 2011; Fickers et al. 2005; Rakicka et al. 2015b; Xu et al. 2016; Xue et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2014). In this work, Y. lipolytica was cultivated in a PP-derived medium to produce FAs. The following report summarizes and discusses our findings.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Polypropylene Growth Medium Preparation

OP4 medium, a polypropylene-derived medium, was prepared by pyrolyzing virgin amorphous polypropylene (Mw=14,000) in 3 g batches at 540° C in 125 ml borosilicate flatbottomed flasks for 190 min. The resulting pyrolysis oil (at 15 g L⁻¹) was combined with additional compounds as follows: 5.4 g L⁻¹ Tween- 80®, 4.5 g L⁻¹ oleic acid, 1.25 g L⁻¹ (NH₄)₂SO₄, 2.5 g L⁻¹ ¹ KH₂PO₄, and 0.830 g L⁻¹ MgSO₄ ·7H₂O. The mixture was emulsified with a hand-held foodgrade homogenizer and autoclaved for 70 min at 121 °C and 15 psi.

2.2.2 Chemicals and Reagents

Virgin polypropylene pellets and oleic acid were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Millipore Sigma, USA). Tween 80[®], chloroform, methanol, cyclohexane, hexane, and all culturing compounds used were of research grade and purchased from Fisher Chemicals (Fisher Scientific, USA).

2.2.3 Cultures and Growth Conditions

Yarrowia lipolytica strain 78-003 (ATCC strain 46483) was the sole strain used in this work. Glycerol frozen stocks of *Y. lipolytica* were prepared (1 ml, $OD_{600} = 20$) and were stored at -80 °C. For all experiments, a frozen aliquot was thawed and added into a 250 ml Erlenmeyer flask containing 50 ml of 5% glucose medium (consisting of 50 g L⁻¹ glucose and 3 g L⁻¹ yeast extract). Each inoculated flask was incubated overnight at 30 °C with shaking at 200 rpm. After incubation, 1 ml samples were withdrawn and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 2 min, and the pellets were washed twice with 50 mM phosphate buffered saline (PBS) solution. *Y. lipolytica* was cultured using 500 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 50 ml OP4 medium; the flasks were inoculated with an overnight

culture of *Y. lipolytica* at an inoculation density of 0.3 (OD_{600} ml⁻¹) and incubated at 30 °C with shaking at 200 rpm.

Several versions of OP4 were prepared to evaluate the impact of medium components on lipid and biomass yields. 'Nitrogen and trace minerals only' medium consisted of: 1.25 g L⁻¹ (NH₄)₂SO₄, 1.25 g L⁻¹ yeast extract, 2.5 g L⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, and 0.830 g L⁻¹ MgSO₄ · 7H₂O. 'Surfactant only' medium was comprised of 5.4 g L⁻¹ Tween- 80® and 4.5 g L⁻¹ oleic acid, without trace minerals or nitrogen. 'PP only' medium, which was OP4 medium without any surfactants, was comprised of 12 g L⁻¹ pyrolyzed polypropylene, 1.25 g L⁻¹ (NH₄)₂SO₄, 1.25 g L⁻¹ yeast extract, 2.5 g L⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, and 0.830 g L⁻¹ MgSO₄ · 7H₂O. 'Surfactant control' medium was comprised of 5.4 g L⁻¹ Tween- 80®, 4.5 g L⁻¹ oleic acid , 0.25 g L⁻¹ (NH₄)₂SO₄, 1.25 g L⁻¹ yeast extract, 2.5 g L⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, and 0.830 g L⁻¹ MgSO₄ · 7H₂O.

The hexadecane medium used for FA profile experiments consisted of: 5% v/v hexadecane, 5 g L⁻¹ yeast nitrogen broth (w/amino acids), 0.5 g L⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, and 0.25 g L⁻¹ MG₂SO₄._Starch medium used for FA profile experiments consisted of: 50 g L⁻¹ hydrolyzed starch, 2 g L⁻¹ yeast nitrogen broth (w/ amino acids), 0.5 g L⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, and 0.25 g L⁻¹ MG₂SO₄. OP5 medium consisted of: 5.4 g L⁻¹ Tween- 80®, 1.25 g L⁻¹ (NH₄)₂SO₄, 2.5 g L⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, and 0.830 g L⁻¹ MgSO₄. Glucose (5%) medium used for FA profile experiments consisted of: 50 g L⁻¹ glucose and 3 g L⁻¹ yeast extract.

2.2.4 Microscopy for Imaging Oil Droplet Production

A modified Nile Red staining method (Rostron and Lawrence 2017) was utilized to stain *Y. lipolytica* intracellular neutral lipids. Sample aliquots (1 ml) of post-fermentation culture were withdrawn and centrifuged, and pellets were washed twice with 0.9% NaCl. Pellets were suspended in 1.0 ml 10 mM PBS with 0.15M KCl and the OD₆₀₀ was adjusted to 10. Technical

grade Nile Red powder (Millipore Sigma, USA) was dissolved in acetone to make a 10 mg mL⁻¹ solution and 10 μ l was added to 1.0 ml cell samples (suspended in 50 mM PBS and calibrated to an OD of ~5.0) in dark conditions, and samples were vortexed and incubated at room temperature (in dark conditions) for approximately 15 min. A Zeiss LSM 510 confocal microscope (Zeiss, USA) was used to visualize stained cells. 10 μ l of sample were used for confocal analysis. Cells were excited at 488 nm, and emissions were imaged at 543 nm.

2.2.5 Intracellular Lipid Quantification

A modified Bligh and Dyer extraction (Bligh and Dyer 1959) was used to extract lipids from yeast samples. Post-fermentation OP4 culture was withdrawn and aliquoted into pre-weighed 50 ml conical tubes, and tubes were centrifuged, and pellets washed twice with 0.9% NaCl. Pellets were lyophilized overnight using a BT3.3 EL Lyophilizer Tabletop (SP Scientific, USA), weighed, and suspended in a 2:1 v/v chloroform: methanol mixture (5 ml per 50 mg cell dry weight) and sonicated using a Sonic Dismembrator (Fisher Scientific, USA) at 20 kHz, 20% amplitude with pulsing (40 s on, 20 s off for a total working time of 20 min). The chloroform layer was taken and dried under a nitrogen stream. Dried lipids were weighed and derivatized for GC/MS analysis via base-catalyzed esterification with 2.5 ml sodium methoxide (0.1 M) (Milanesio et al. 2013). The reaction was quenched using 200 µl sulfuric acid (>95%), and 2.5 ml hexane was added to each sample, which was then vortexed and centrifuged (5 min at 5000 rpm). 1.5 ml from the top hexane layer was withdrawn for GC/MS analysis.

2.2.6 GC/MS Analysis of Lipid Profile

The FA profile was characterized with an Agilent 7890A gas chromatograph (GC) attached to a 5977A mass spectrometer detector and equipped with an Agilent J&W HP-5ms UI capillary column (30 mm x 0.25 mm x 0.25 μ m). 1 μ l samples were injected via an Agilent 7693 Automatic Liquid Sampler in splitless mode with an inlet temperature of 275 °C, using helium as the carrier gas at a flow rate of 1 ml min⁻¹. GC oven temperature was held at 60 °C for 1 min, and ramped to 100 °C (rate: 25 °C min⁻¹; hold 1 min). The oven temperature was then increased to 200 °C (rate: 25 °C min⁻¹; hold 1 min). The oven temperature is then increased to 220 °C (rate: 5 °C min⁻¹; hold 7 min) and then increased to an ending temperature of 300 °C (rate: 25 °C min⁻¹; hold 2 min). A C8-C24 FAME analytical standard was used during sample analyses as an external standard (Sigma Aldrich, USA).

2.2.7 Pyrolysis oil characterization via GC/MS

3 g pyrolysis oil was dissolved in 200 ml chloroform (Sigma Aldrich, USA) and 1.5 μ l aliquots were analyzed via GC/MS. A GC method (Guzik et al. 2014) was used to characterize the polypropylene pyrolysis oil. 1 μ l of the diluted pyrolysis oil was injected via automatic liquid sampler at an inlet temperature of 275 °C and a 2:1 split ratio. The oven method was 30 °C for 1 min, then ramping to 100 °C (rate:7.5 °C min), then ramping to 300 °C (rate 10 °C min⁻¹, hold 2 min).

2.2.8 Substrate Degradation Analysis

Substrate degradation analysis was done both gravimetrically and via GC/MS. 10 mlaliquots of OP4 medium pre- and post-fermentation were taken for analysis. Media was centrifuged (10 min at 7000 rpm) and 5 ml of media transferred to pre-weighed conical tubes and wet weight of media documented. Samples were lyophilized and weighed, and the dry cell weight was suspended in a 1:1:1 v/v mixture of hexane, chloroform and deionized water (15 ml) and vortexed until sample was fully dissolved. Afterward, 1.5 ml of the top hexane layer was withdrawn and used for GC/MS analyses.

2.2.9 Growth Measurements

One ml of *Y. lipolytica* overnight culture was pelleted (10,000 rpm, 10 min) and pellets were washed twice with 50 mM PBS, and then resuspended in 1 ml 50 mM PBS to reach a final OD_{600} of 15. The inoculum was used to inoculate all experiments involving growing cells at the initial optical densities indicated in the text. At set timepoints, 1 ml aliquots were withdrawn and OD_{600} measurements were taken using an Eppendorf 6131 Biophotometer (Eppendorf, USA).

For gravimetric analysis of growth, 50 ml aliquots were withdrawn, centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 min, the supernatant discarded, and cell pellets were washed twice with 50 mM PBS and lyophilized overnight before being weighed.

2.2.10 Cyclohexane toxicity assay

Yeast malt broth (10 gL⁻¹ dextrose, 5 g L⁻¹ malt extract, 3 g L⁻¹ peptone, and 5 g L⁻¹ yeast extract) was used to cultivate *Y. lipolytica* cells. 1 ml aliquots of overnight culture (inoculation density = 0.30 [600 nm]) were used to inoculate 50 ml of either yeast malt broth only or yeast malt broth with 0.23% w/v cyclohexane. One ml samples were withdrawn at select timepoints, and growth was measured spectrophotometrically (600 nm).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Polypropylene thermal depolymerization

Pyrolysis of virgin amorphous polypropylene (PP) pellets generated an oil-like fluid that turned waxy when cooled rapidly. GC/MS analysis of the PP oil identified approximately 18 different compounds across the batches that were prepared. More than 80% of PP oil was branched chain compounds, with branched fatty alcohols (50.9%) and branched alkenes (25.1%) making up approximately 75% of all available carbon sources (Figure 2.1). The branched alkenes detected were all C_nH_{2n} compounds, with the most abundant compound being 2,4-dimethylhept-1-ene (~14%), followed by 2,4,6,8-tetramethyl-1-undecene (~6%) and 1,4-dimethyl-decene (~5%). The branched fatty alcohols detected were C_nH_{2n+2} compounds, with 2-hexyl-1-decanol (~11%) being the predominant compound, followed by 2-methyl-1-decanol (~10%).



Figure 2.1 Carbon composition of PP oil after thermal depolymerization.
2.3.2 Analyzing Y. lipolytica growth and activity in OP4 medium: comparisons with a 'surfactant control' medium

48.9 percent of the total carbon in OP4 medium, on a moles C basis, was derived from the biodegradable surfactant. The remainder of the carbon in the medium was found in the PP oil, with trace amounts derived from the supplemented yeast extract. To determine the extent to which the PP oil in OP4 contributed to *Y. lipolytica* growth and to formation of biochemical products, a series of experiments were conducted comparing the activity of *Y. lipolytica* grown in OP4 medium versus a 'surfactant control' medium. The 'surfactant control' was identical in composition to OP4 medium except that it contained no PP oil.

2.3.3 Measuring Y. lipolytica growth

To determine the extent that PP oil contributed to *Y. lipolytica* growth, cell growth was measured gravimetrically. The analysis indicated an average of 27% less biomass when cells were grown on OP4 medium (Figure 2.2a). Biomass accumulation peaked after 72 h. The biomass remained at 2.4 g L^{-1} or greater through 192 h.

2.3.4 OP4 uptake during growth

To determine the extent of OP4 medium uptake during growth, the mass of medium remaining in solution was measured. More than 80 percent of OP4 medium was taken up after 13 days (312 h) (Figure 2.2b). OP4 medium contains 51 percent fatty alcohols which originate from PP and are produced during pyrolysis. To determine whether medium components originating from PP were taken up by *Y. lipolytica*, the change in fatty alcohol concentration in the medium was analyzed via GC/MS (Figure 2.2b). Approximately 51% of fatty alcohols in OP4 medium were taken up by *Y. lipolytica* by 120 h, with 86% of the fatty alcohols used by 312 h. The uptake of total FAs and fatty alcohols occurred in a similar fashion over the course of experiments.



Figure 2.2 Growth of Y. lipolytica in OP4 medium. (a) Growth in OP4 medium versus a 'surfactant control' medium. Growth was measured as cell dry weight. The 'surfactant control' included all emulsifiers, nitrogen, phosphorous, and trace nutrient sources found in OP4 medium but did not include PP-derived compounds. (b) OP4 medium use during Y. lipolytica growth. The change in OP4 concentration was measured gravimetrically. Fatty alcohol consumption was measured by GC/MS. Mean \pm SD plotted for each data set.

2.3.5 Impact of OP4 components on growth and FA production

OP4 medium contains several components that contribute to the overall growth of Y.

lipolytica. To determine the effect of individual components of the medium on cell growth, a series

of comparisons were made (Figure 2.3). Yeast extract was used as a supplemental nitrogen source

and contributed approximately 25 percent of the maximum measured biomass. A comparison of the 'surfactant only' and 'surfactant control' treatments confirmed that supplemental nitrogen and salts were necessary to increase the yield. Comparing the 'PP only' and 'OP4' treatments indicated that the presence of surfactant in the medium increased the yield more than six-fold. On the other hand, comparisons of 'OP4' and 'surfactant only' treatments or 'PP only' and 'nitrogen and trace minerals only' treatments determined that PP oil in the growth medium inhibited *Y. lipolytica* growth. Although PP oil in OP4 medium inhibited growth, it significantly increased the FA yield (Table 2.1).



Figure 2.3 Growth on OP4, 'surfactant control', and their various individual components. Growth was measured gravimetrically. Significance determined by ANOVA. Samples were considered significantly different if p < 0.05. Treatments that share the same lower case or upper case letter are not significantly different than one another.

2.3.6 Effect of cycloalkanes on Y. lipolytica growth

Cyclic alkanes have been reported elsewhere to be poor growth substrates for *Y. lipolytica* and other industrial yeasts (Beam and Perry 1974; Das and Chandran 2011; Mauersberger et al. 1996). OP4 contains 0.15 ± 0.08 percent (w/v) cyclic alkanes. To determine whether cyclic alkanes

inhibited growth of *Y. lipolytica* at the concentration that they are found in OP4 medium, we compared growth in a rich medium with or without 0.23 percent (w/v) cyclohexane added (Figure 2.4). Cyclohexane was selected as a representative cyclic alkane. The presence of cyclohexane reduced cell growth relative to control cells by 72 hours, a difference which persisted through 120 hours. The extent of growth inhibition ranged from 6 percent to 32 percent over the course of the experiment.

 Table 2.1 Intracellular lipid yields by Y. lipolytica during growth in OP4 medium or its components^{ab}

	Yield (mg/L)	Significance
OP4	526.3 ± 12.5	а
Surfactant-based control	215.9 ± 20.2	b
Surfactant only'	117.6 ± 9.3	С
Nitrogen+ trace minerals'	7.3 ± 1.9	d
PP + Nitrogen +trace minerals'	2.8 ± 0.4	d

^{*a*}Significance determined by ANOVA. Samples were considered significantly different if p < 0.05. ^{*b*}Treatments that share the same lower case letter are not significantly different than one another.

2.3.7 Microscopy analysis of lipid accumulation

Lipid accumulation by *Y. lipolytica* cells grown in OP4 medium or 'surfactant control' medium was analyzed by Nile Red staining and confocal microscopy followed by quantitative image analysis. Differences in the cellular lipid content were visibly noticeable in compositely stained cells (Figure 2.5a). Cells grown in OP4 medium tended to aggregate compared to those grown in surfactant-based medium. The mean fluorescence for cells grown in OP4 medium was nearly twice that of cells growing in surfactant-based medium (p <0.05), indicating greater lipid accumulation when cells were grown in OP4 medium (Figure 2.5b).



Figure 2.4 Growth of Y. lipolytica on rich medium with and without 0.3% w/v cyclohexane. Growth was measured as OD600 absorbance via spectrophotometer at various timepoints. Significance determined by student's T-test. (**) indicates a significant difference (p < 0.01) between treated samples and the untreated control.

2.3.8 Fatty acid yields during growth in OP4 medium versus surfactant control

To determine the extent that PP contributed to the production of fatty acids by *Y. lipolytica*, a comparison of FA production between cells grown in OP4 medium versus surfactant-based medium was conducted. Lipid yields were determined via GC/MS analysis. FA yields were significantly higher when *Y. lipolytica* grew on OP4 medium compared to the 'surfactant control' medium (Figure 2.6a). This was true at each of the measured timepoints over the course of experiments. *Y. lipolytica* generated most of its lipid bulk between 72 and 120 h. The bulk of the FAs produced were C-18, followed by C-16, with small amounts of C-20 and trace amounts of C-14 FAs at 240 h (Figure 2.6b). The bulk of the FAs produced were unsaturated; there was no significant difference in the proportion of unsaturated to saturated FAs between the 'surfactant

control' and the OP4 medium (Figure 2.6c). However, there was a significant increase in the percentage of saturated FAs produced as the experiment progressed: between 72 h and 240 hr the fraction of saturated FAs increased from 10 ± 1 percent to 35 ± 8 percent (p < 0.05). The majority of FAs produced were monounsaturated C18:1 FAs (Figure 2.6d).



Figure 2.5 FA production during growth in OP4 medium. Cells were imaged after 96 h. Magnification $400\times$. (a) left, OP4 medium; right and surfactant control. Note lipid inclusion bodies in yellow. (b) Mean Nile Red fluorescence quantified by digital image analysis.

2.3.9 Effect of lipids or carbohydrates on FA production

Oleaginous yeast are often grown on carbohydrates and produce FAs by *de novo* biosynthesis; in contrast, OP4 medium contains hydrocarbons derived from PP depolymerization and from biodegradable surfactants, likely inducing *ex novo* FA biosynthesis. To help understand how the composition of OP4 affected FA production, *Y. lipolytica* was grown in media containing

lipids or carbohydrates as the carbon source (Figure 2.7). The substrates that were examined were: glucose (5%), starch (2%), hexadecane (5%) and OP4 medium (1.5% PP-derived compounds). Hexadecane was selected as a representative hydrophobic substrate found in OP4 medium. The C-18 FA oleic acid was the dominant FA produced by *Y. lipolytica* during growth in each medium except hexadecane. C-16 and C-18 FA distribution was consistent among cells grown on both carbohydrate-based substrates and OP4, with deviation occurring on hexadecane-grown cells. Palmitic or palmitoleic acid, C-16 FAs, were the second most abundant, followed by C-18 stearic acid. In hexadecane-containing medium, saturated palmitic acid was the main FA produced. Only 5 FAs were produced when *Y. lipolytica* grown on glucose and starch were more complex, with 10 different types of FAs produced, including the shorter chain FAs myristic, dodecanoic, pentadecanoic, and tridecanoic acids.



Figure 2.6 Analysis of fatty acid production by Y. lipolytica during growth on OP4 medium vs surfactant control (*a*) total FA yield. (*b*) distribution of FAs by carbon number. (*c*) distribution of saturated and unsaturated FAs (*d*) distribution of unsaturated FAs.

To determine whether the PP content of OP4 influenced the type of FA products produced, the FA profiles from growth in OP4 medium versus in the 'surfactant control' medium were compared (Table 2.2). Several features were evident. First, with the exception of 192 h, palmitoleic acid was a greater fraction of the FAs produced in OP4 medium than the 'surfactant control'. Conversely, at each timepoint except 120 h, the palmitic acid fraction was larger in the 'surfactant control'. Second, there was a spike in the fraction of oleic acid in the OP4 medium with respect to the 'surfactant control' at 192 h. Lastly, very long chain fatty acids (\geq C-20) were only found in cells grown in OP4 medium.



Figure 2.7 Effect of lipid- versus carbohydrate-containing media on fatty acid production. Cells were grown for 120 h prior to analysis.

2.4 Discussion

If plastic waste can be used in bioconversion processes, then an incentive will exist to keep it out of the environment. In this work we demonstrated that compounds generated from PP pyrolysis can be transformed by *Y. lipolytica* into fatty acids suitable for use in industry or other diverse applications. We are not aware of work by others reporting PP as a growth substrate for microbial bioconversion. The yield of FAs produced by *Y. lipolytica* during growth in OP4 medium was comparable to related bioconversion processes. There are limited examples of bioconversion processes where a plastic was used as the feedstock, but in the most related process to the work presented here, Guzik used polyethylene (PE) pyrolysis oil for polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA; "bioplastic") production by *Pseudomonas sp.* (Guzik et al. 2014). After 48 h, 84.4% of the PE oil was metabolized, producing 0.23 g L⁻¹ CDW, of which 9.8% was PHA, a biomass to substrate yield of 0.14 g gC⁻¹ and a PHA to substrate yield of 0.01 g gC⁻¹ (Guzik et al. 2014). In comparison, growth of *Y. lipolytica* 78-003 in OP4 medium yielded 2.34 g L⁻¹ CDW, a biomass to substrate yield of 0.13 g gC⁻¹, and a FA to substrate yield of 0.03 g gC⁻¹ (0.54 g L⁻¹ FAs). Similarly, when *Y. lipolytica* was grown on 5 g L⁻¹ food oil waste, a FA-rich feedstock similar in hydrophobicity and carbon content to OP4 medium, the yield was 3 g L⁻¹ CDW and 0.75 g L⁻¹ FAs after 6 days (Bialy et al. 2011). In general, lower FA accumulation is observed during growth of oleaginous yeast on hydrophobic substrates and additional measures must be taken to increase the yield of FAs (Papanikolaou and Aggelis 2011).

	72 hrs		120 hrs		
Name	Surfactant Control	OP4	Surfactant Control	OP4	
C 16:0	9.6 ± 0.9	6.4 ± 0.1	10.2 ± 0.8	15.7 ± 0.3	
C 16:1	4.1 ± 0.3	6.6 ± 0.4	5.5 ± 0.6	18.6 ± 0.2	
C 18:0	1.7 ± 0.1	2.2 ± 0.4	11.0 ± 0.4	10.6 ± 0.7	
C 18:1	67.4 ± 1.3	68.2 ± 4.5	51.8 ± 4.8	52.8 ± 1.1	
C 18:2	17.2 ± 1.3	15.0 ± 3.4	21.5 ± 2.7	n.d.	
C 20:1	n.d.	0.74 ± 0.1	n.d.	2.3 ± 0.1	
Other ^d	n.d.	0.95 ± 0.1	n.d.	n.d.	
	192 hr	S	240 hrs		
Name	Surfactant Control OP4		Surfactant Control	OP4	
C 14:0	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	0.8 ± 0.2	
C 16:0	21.3 ± 0.4	5.8 ± 0.5	21.8 ± 2.1	4.8 ± 1.0	
C 16:1	3.6 ± 1.9	6.6 ± 0.7	4.8 ± 1.3	21.6 ± 0.6	
C 18:0	17.9 ± 0.4	4.1 ± 0.4	20.3 ± 2.7	20.1 ± 0.7	
C 18:1	50.4 ± 11.0	79.1 ± 15.1	45.0 ± 9.0	44.5 ± 6.6	
C 18:2	6.7 ± 2.3	3.3 ± 2.8	10.0 ± 2.1	7.3 ± 0.5	
C 18:3	n.d.	0.1 ± 0.01	n.d.	n.d.	
C 20:1	n.d.	0.9 ± 0.1	n.d.	0.7 ± 0.1	

Table 2.2 Fatty acid profiles of Y. lipolytica grown in OP4 medium or surfactant control medium^{*ab*}.

^{*a*} Values are percent of total FAs present at the indicated time. Mean \pm SD.

^b At each time point, Student's t test was used to evaluate whether there was a significant difference in the amount of each compound produced. Values that are significantly greater (p < 0.05) are in **bold** font.

^{*c*} n.d.; not detected.

^d compounds include heptadecanoic and tridecanoic acids

Did cultivating *Y. lipolytica* on a PP-derived growth substrate impact FA production? By comparing FA production in OP4 medium versus a 'surfactant control', a few differences in the FA profile were evident, notably an increase the palmitoleic acid fraction, the presence of C-20 compounds and a larger product yield. It remains to be seen in future experiments whether specific PP-derived compounds directly influenced the observed FA product profile. On the other hand, a comparison of the C-16 and C-18 FA profile measured in this work during growth in OP4 medium with FA profiles reported by others revealed a remarkable similarity (Table 2.3). These data suggest that the *Y. lipolytica* FA profile is influenced to a significant extent by cellular metabolism rather than substrate characteristics.

Additionally, by comparing FA profiles for cells grown on hydrophobic substrates (OP4 medium, hexadecane) and cells grown on hydrophilic substrates (glucose, starch), some differences were evident, notably the greater diversity of FAs produced during growth on the carbohydrate media. In general, the observed FA profiles were consistent with *de novo* lipid synthesis during growth on glucose and starch, where FAs are formed as secondary metabolites after nitrogen depletion warrants carbon storage and *ex novo* lipid synthesis during growth on OP4 medium and hexadecane, where FA synthesis is a growth-coupled process that assimilates hydrophobic substrates into lipids while simultaneously utilizing them for growth and maintenance (Papanikolaou and Aggelis 2011). Overall, the data support the view that FA production by *Y. lipolytica* in a PP-derived medium is similar to FA production during growth on naturally-occurring substrates.

	C 16:0	C 16:1	C 18:0	C 18:1	C 18:2	Source
OP4 medium	19	16	11	54	n.d.	this work
Starch	29	15	12	38	7	this work
Glucose	16	21	7	56	n.d. ^a	this work
Hexadecane	46	15	10	25	4	this work
Glycerol	15	2	11	47	21	(Aggelis 2002)
Glycerol	12	11	9	57	11	(André et al. 2009)
Glycerol	13	17	6	55	7	(Makri et al. 2010)

Table 2.3 C 16 and C 18 FA profiles of Y. lipolytica growing on various media in this and other work. Values are reported as percentages. After [36]

^{*a*} n.d.; not detected.

Two additional points regarding the presented data warrant further comment. First, *Y. lipolytica* did not grow as extensively in OP4 medium as it did in the 'surfactant control'. The most likely explanation is that there were growth-inhibitory compounds associated with PP that were not present in the control, mainly cyclic alkanes. Cyclic alkanes are not an adequate growth substrate for *Y. lipolytica*, as the P450 monooxygenases mainly responsible for hydrophobic substrate oxidation during assimilation are not able to oxidize cyclic alkanes (Beam and Perry 1974; Das and Chandran 2011; Mauersberger et al. 1996). Our work shows that concentrations of cyclic alkanes as minimal as 0.3% w/v impeded growth. Notably, in spite of the lower biomass yield during growth on OP4 medium, the FA yield was significantly higher. Cellular stress, including nutrient limitations (Aggelis 2002; André et al. 2009; Beopoulos et al. 2008; Kitcha and Cheirsilp 2011; Klug and Daum 2014; Kuttiraja et al. 2016) increases FA storage by *Y. lipolytica*;

chemical toxicity may have caused a similar stress response. Second, the PP component of OP4 medium contributed to *Y. lipolytica* growth and FA production. This result was evident in three ways. 1) gravimetric analysis of changes in the growth medium mass during experiments determined that 81% of the medium was taken up by *Y. lipolytica*. Even if all the non-PP components of OP4 medium were consumed first, these were less than half of the medium, meaning that at least 30% of the substrate taken up by *Y. lipolytica* was PP-derived. 2) The concentration of branched fatty alcohols in OP4 medium declined by 86% over the course of experiments. These compounds were the most abundant constituent of PP oil and were not part of the biodegradable surfactant in OP4 medium; the reduction in concentration indicates that *Y. lipolytica* assimilated at a minimum one major component of PP oil. 3) *Y. lipolytica* produced considerably more FAs when grown on OP4 media than when grown on the 'surfactant control', indicating that PP-derived compounds contributed to FA production.

The production of FAs by *Y. lipolytica* can be optimized by altering fermentation conditions and by metabolic engineering. For example, supplementing a food oil waste-derived growth medium with 10 g L⁻¹ glucose increased the biomass yield from 3 g L⁻¹ to 13 g L⁻¹ with a concomitant increase in the FA yield from 0.75 g L⁻¹ to 7.3 g L⁻¹. Additionally, the bioavailability of the growth substrate can be increased; for example, bioconversion of waste cooking oil was enhanced by ultrasonication of the growth medium, leading to an increase in FA production (Patel and Matsakas 2018). When the FA degradation and remobilization genes, *Pox1-6* and *TGL4*, were inhibited, *Y. lipolytica* grown on 250 g L⁻¹ glycerol was able to obtain a lipid yield of 15.5 g L⁻¹, with lipid content constituting 31% CDW (Rakicka et al. 2015b). Qiao (2015) determined that simultaneous overexpression of *Y. lipolytica* stearyl coA desaturase, acetyl-CoA carboxylase, and diacylglycerideacyl-transferase genes yielded a strain with fast cell growth and a high lipid titer

(55 g L⁻¹) (Qiao et al. 2015). Based on these results, it is likely that a strategy can be found to increase the yield of FAs for cells grown in OP4 medium. More specifically, we hypothesize that adding carbon sources such as glucose or glycerol will favor biomass accumulation during the growth of the inoculum, and the larger microbial population should lead to quicker uptake of PP-derived compounds and greater FA accumulation. Alternatively, we hypothesize that overexpressing enzymes responsible for *ex novo* FA biosynthesis including fatty alcohol dehydrogenase, fatty alcohol oxidase, and fatty aldehyde dehydrogenase will favor FA accumulation over catabolism by peripheral pathways, leading to increased yields. Overall, we think that bioconversion can be part of a terminal recycling solution for plastic waste.

3 ENHANCING POLYPROPYLENE BIOCONVERSION AND LIPOGENESIS BY *YARROWIA LIPOLYTICA* THROUGH OPTIMIZATION OF FERMENTATION PARAMETERS

3.1 Introduction

Plastic pollution in the environment is a challenging problem that requires innovative strategies to solve. Microbial bioconversion of plastics for producing value-added products is potentially part of the solution (Cacciari et al. 1993; Guzik et al. 2014; Kenny et al. 2008; Mihreteab et al. 2019; Narancic and O'Connor 2017; Silva et al. 2018; Skariyachan et al. 2017; Syranidou et al. 2019; Ward et al. 2006; Wierckx et al. 2018; Wierckx et al. 2015). Microbial bioconversion and biodegradation processes have previously been reported for polyesters, polyethylene, polystyrene, and nylon (Brandon et al. 2018; Chertkov O Fau - Sikorski et al. 2011; Deguchi et al. 1997; Kawai et al. 2014; Ribitsch et al. 2012; Skariyachan et al. 2017; Syranidou et al. 2019; Tanasupawat et al. 2016; Wei et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2018b; Yang et al. 2015b; Yang et al. 2015c; Yoshida et al. 2016). In recent work, we developed a process for microbial bioconversion of polypropylene (PP) that used the oleaginous yeast Yarrowia lipolytica to produce fatty acids (Mihreteab et al. 2019). This process employed pyrolysis to depolymerize PP and create a hydrocarbon- and fatty alcohol- rich oil. The oil was mixed into a nutrient-supplemented aqueous solution using biodegradable emulsifiers, including oleic acid, resulting in a PP-derived growth medium named OP4. Y. lipolytica was able to assimilate more than 80% of OP4, producing a yield of up to 530 mg L⁻¹ lipids, of which 59 percent was derived from PP (Mihreteab et al. 2019). After demonstrating the potential for PP bioconversion using OP4 medium, we endeavored to make a PP-derived growth medium that required less adjuvants and a process that could yield more product. In this work, we report on OP5 medium, a PP-

derived growth medium that is free of added oleic acid and derives 77 percent of its carbon from polypropylene. We evaluated several approaches to increase the product yield during the growth of *Y. lipolytica* in OP5 medium and then examined the impact of using postconsumer PP waste in a bioconversion process.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Chemicals and Reagents

Virgin amorphous polypropylene pellets (Mw= 14,000) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Millipore Sigma, USA). Tween 80®, chloroform, methanol, cyclohexane, and hexane and all culturing compounds were of research grade and purchased from Fisher Chemicals (Fisher Scientific, USA).

3.2.2 Polypropylene Growth Medium Preparation

OP5 medium was prepared as follows. 125-ml flat-bottomed borosilicate flasks were used to pyrolyze either virgin PP pellets or sheared postconsumer PP in 3 g batches at 540 °C for 195 minutes. The pyrolysis oil (at 15 g L⁻¹) was combined with: 5.4 g L⁻¹ Tween- 80®, 5 g L⁻¹ yeast nitrogen base, 2.5 g L⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, 2.5 g L⁻¹ yeast extract and 1.25 g L⁻¹ MgSO₄ · 7H₂O. The mixture was emulsified with a hand-held food-grade homogenizer. To compensate for the lack of oleic acid as an emulsifier as was used in OP4 medium, we increased the homogenization time of OP5 medium from 90 seconds (mixing time for OP4 medium) to 3 minutes. The resulting homogenized medium was autoclaved for 30 min at 121 °C and 15 psi.

3.2.3 Cultures and Fermentation Conditions

Yarrowia lipolytica ATCC strain 46482 was the sole strain used in this work. Overnight cultures were prepared from 1 ml 60 % glycerol stocks of *Y. lipolytica* stored at -80 °C. For all experiments, frozen cells were thawed and used to inoculate 250 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 50 or 100 ml of Yeast-Extract-Peptone-Dextrose medium (10 g L⁻¹ yeast extract, 20 g L⁻¹ peptone, and 20 g L⁻¹ dextrose). Inoculated flasks were incubated overnight at 30 °C with shaking at 200 rpm overnight. All shake flask fermentations were conducted using 500 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 50 ml OP5 medium; triplicate flasks were inoculated with an overnight culture of *Y. lipolytica* at varying inoculum densities as indicated and incubated at 30 °C with shaking at 200 rpm.

3.2.4 Growth Measurements

Y. lipolytica growth measurements were taken spectrophotometrically and gravimetrically. Aliquots of 1 ml were withdrawn, and growth was measured by optical density at 600 nm using an Eppendorf 6131 Biophotometer (Eppendorf, USA). For growth measurements using gravimetric methods, 50 ml volumes of culture were withdrawn after fermentation and centrifuged at 7,000 rpm. Supernatant was decanted and stored, and cell pellets were washed twice with 50 mM Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) solution. Cells were then flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and lyophilized overnight using a BT3.3 EL Lyophilizer (VirTis/SP Scientific, USA) and weighed on an analytical balance.

3.2.5 Microscopy

Brightfield microscopy images were taken using an AmScope BL120c microscope (United Scope, California) equipped with an Amscope MD35 camera attachment at 1000x magnification. Slides

were prepared by aseptically pipetting 10 \Box 1 of OP5 medium containing *Y. lipolytica* after 120 h growth. No stains were used.

3.2.6 Fermentation Optimization

For pH experiments, the pH of OP5 medium was adjusted to 4.0, 5.0, or 6.0 using 2.0 M H₂SO₄ or 4.0 M NaOH. A Corning 320 pH meter (Corning, USA) was used to measure pH. For inoculum density experiments, OP5 medium was inoculated at an inoculum density of either 1.0, 3.0, or 6.0. To prepare the cultures, the optical density of the overnight culture was measured (600 nm). Based on the measurement, the required volume of cells was collected and centrifuged at 4,000 rpm. Pelleted cells were washed twice with 50 mM PBS solution and used to inoculate OP5 medium. For carbon-nitrogen ratio experiments, the nitrogen content of OP5 medium was adjusted by modifying the amount of yeast nitrogen base (contains 15% nitrogen w/v) and yeast extract (contains 10% nitrogen w/v) added to the OP5 medium prior to autoclaving, and a medium pH of 6.0 and inoculum density of 3 were used carbon-nitrogen ratios of 20, 40, 80, and 100 were tested. For osmolarity experiments, NaCl was used to adjust the medium's osmolarity. NaCl was added to OP5 medium at concentrations of 0.75, 1.5 and 3 g L⁻¹ prior to autoclaving, and a C/N ratio of 80, inoculum density of 3, and pH of 6.0 were used. For all experiments, cells were grown for 120 hours.

3.2.7 Substrate Assimilation Analysis

The uptake of growth substrate in OP5 medium was measured gravimetrically. 50 ml of either pre-fermentation or spent OP5 medium were added to 50 ml conical tubes and lyophilized. After all moisture was removed, the remaining mass of medium was weighed, and substrate uptake was determined as the different in the mass of medium solids before and after fermentation.

3.2.8 GC/MS analysis of OP5 hydrophobic fragments

We quantified the consumption of organic constituents of OP5 medium during fermentation by GC/MS. Liquid-liquid extractions were used to collect the organic constituents before and after the growth of *Y. lipolytica* in OP5 medium. Fifty ml hexane was added to 50 ml pre-fermentation or spent OP5 media, and the mixture was transferred to 250 ml screw cap Nalgene tubes, sealed with Teflon tape, and shaken at 30 °C and 150 rpm for 24 hours. After incubation, samples were centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 10 minutes, and 1.5 ml of the hexane (top) layer was withdrawn and used for GC/MS analysis. The GC method of Guzik et al. (2014) was used to characterize and quantify the constituents of the hexane layer (Guzik et al. 2014). Details about the GC/MS instrumentation and protocol are described in a section below. One µl was injected via automatic liquid sampler at an inlet temperature of 275 °C. The oven method was: 30 °C for 1 min, then ramping to 100 °C (rate:7.5 °C min⁻¹), then ramping to 300 °C (rate 10 °C min⁻¹, hold 2 min). Separated peaks were quantified using MassHunter® Qualitative Analysis software (Agilent, USA).

3.2.9 OP5 medium components: impact on product yield

Media were made using the various components of OP5 medium. Each component medium was made using deionized water and buffered to a pH of 6.0 using 0.1 M HCL or 0.1 M NaOH. Tween \circledast 80 only medium contained 5.4 g L⁻¹ Tween \circledast 80 surfactant only. PP-only medium was composed solely of 15 g L⁻¹ PP oil . Tween \circledast 80 + nutrients medium was composed of 5.4 g L⁻¹ Tween \circledast 80 surfactant, 5 g L⁻¹ yeast nitrogen base, 2.5 g L⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, 2.5 g L⁻¹ yeast extract and 1.25 g L⁻¹ MgSO₄·7H₂O.

Component media experiments were carried out in 500 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 50 ml medium, and *Y. lipolytica* was inoculated at an inoculum density of 1.0. Samples were placed

in a shaking incubator for 120 h at 30 °C. After fermentation, samples were transferred to 50 ml conical tubes, and centrifuged at 4,000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was decanted and cells washed twice with 50 mM PBS before being lyophilized, weighed as described above, and lipids extracted and quantified as described in the following section.

3.2.10 Intracellular Lipid Quantification

A previously used modified Bligh and Dyer extraction (Bligh and Dyer 1959; Mihreteab et al. 2019) was used to extract lipids from yeast samples. Post-fermentation OP5 culture was withdrawn and dispensed into pre-weighed 50 ml conical tubes prior to centrifugation at 4,000 rpm, and pellets were washed twice with 50 mM PBS solution. Pellets were lyophilized, weighed, suspended in a 2:1 v/v chloroform: methanol mixture (5 ml per 50 mg cell dry weight) and sonicated using a Sonic Dismembrator (Fisher Scientific, USA) at 20 kHz and 20 % amplitude with pulsing (40 s on, 20 s off for a total working time of 20 min). The chloroform layer was withdrawn and aliquoted into pre-weighed conical tubes, then dried under a nitrogen stream. Dried lipids were weighed to determined lipid yield.

Dried lipids were weighed and methylated for GC/MS analysis via base-catalyzed esterification with 2.5 ml sodium methoxide (0.1 M) (Milanesio et al. 2013). The reaction was quenched using 200 μ l sulfuric acid (>95%), and 2.5 ml hexane was added to each sample, which was then vortexed and centrifuged for 10 min at 10,000 rpm. 1.5 ml from the top hexane layer was withdrawn for GC/MS analysis.

3.2.11 GC/MS Analysis of Lipid Profile

Fatty acid profiles were characterized with an Agilent 7890A gas chromatograph attached to a 5977A mass spectrometer detector and equipped with an Agilent J&W HP-5ms UI capillary column (30 mm x 0.25 mm x 0.25 μ m). GC parameters used for fatty acid profile analysis were

previously used by Mihreteab et al (Mihreteab et al. 2019). One µl samples were injected via an Agilent 7693 Automatic Liquid Sampler in splitless mode with an inlet temperature of 275 °C, using helium as the carrier gas at a flow rate of 1 ml min⁻¹. GC oven temperature was held at 60 °C for 1 min, and ramped to 100 °C (rate: 25 °C min⁻¹; hold 1 min). The oven temperature was then increased to 200 °C (rate: 25 °C min⁻¹; hold 1 min). The oven temperature of 300 °C (rate: 25 °C min⁻¹; hold 1 min). The oven temperature of 300 °C (rate: 25 °C min⁻¹; hold 2 min) and then increased to an ending temperature of 300 °C (rate: 25 °C min⁻¹; hold 2 min). A C8-C24 FAME analytical standard was used during sample analyses as an external standard (Sigma Aldrich, USA).

3.2.12 Postconsumer PP oil characterization via GC/MS

Three grams postconsumer PP oil was dissolved in 250 ml chloroform (Sigma Aldrich, USA) and 1.5 ml aliquots were analyzed via GC/MS. The GC method used for hydrophobic fraction analysis (Guzik et al. 2014) was used to characterize the polypropylene pyrolysis oil. One μ l of the diluted pyrolysis oil was injected via automatic liquid sampler at an inlet temperature of 275 °C. The oven method was 30 °C for 1 min, then ramping to 100 °C (rate:7.5 °C min⁻¹), then ramping to 300 °C (rate 10 °C min⁻¹, hold 2 min).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 OP5 medium composition

The PP oil in OP5 medium was comprised primarily of branched fatty alcohols including hexyldecanol and methyldecanol (59 %) and the branched alkenes 2,4 dimethyl-heptene and 2,6 dimethyl-octene (16 %) (Figure 3.1c). This composition was similar to the PP oil used in OP4 medium (Mihreteab et al. 2019) which contained 51 % branched fatty alcohols and 25 % branched

alkenes. After homogenization, the medium had a milky, evenly-mixed appearance. Unlike OP4, which contained oleic acid as an added emulsifier and remained homogenized at room temperature for a period of up to 3 days, OP5 medium separated within 2 hours without constant mixing. To compensate for this, the medium was used within an hour of homogenization and sterilization to prevent separation prior to fermentation.



Figure 3.1 Media were prepared from two sources of polypropylene. (a) OP5 medium was prepared from virgin amorphous PP pellets. (b) PCOP5 medium was prepared from postconsumer dental floss packaging made of PP. (c,d) The majority of the corresponding PP oils was branched fatty alcohols although differences were evident between the oils derived from the two sources of plastic.

Over the course of experiments, OP5 went from a homogenized medium to a colloidal suspension where PP droplets aggregated into small ($<50 \square$ m diameter) droplets dispersed throughout the medium. By microscope, these droplets were shown to associate with *Y. lipolytica*, which formed biofilm-like aggregates around the droplets (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2 Y. lipolytica cells in association with PP micelles from OP5 medium during fermentation. Cell aggregates form in the medium around the micelles. Image taken at 1000x magnification.

3.3.2 Growth and lipogenesis on OP5 versus OP4 medium

We compared the growth of *Y. lipolytica* in OP5 versus OP4 medium to determine if the medium composition would affect cell yield or product yield (Figure 3.3). Cells grown in OP5 medium reached intracellular lipid yields of 0.53 g L⁻¹ (Figure 3.3a), similar to lipid yields of cells grown on OP4 medium (Figure 3.3a). Biomass yields were lower when cells grew in OP5 medium, as the maximum biomass generated was 1.1 g L^{-1} , less than half that of *Y. lipolytica* grown on OP4 medium (Figure 3.3b). Cellular lipid content was higher during growth in OP5 medium compared to OP4 medium at each timepoint. Cells grown on OP5 achieved a maximum cell lipid content of 45 percent, compared to only 22 percent for cells grown on OP4 (Figure 3.3c).



Figure 3.3 Comparison of Y. lipolytica growth and lipid production during growth in OP4 medium versus OP5 medium. (a) biomass; (b) lipid yield; (c) lipid content per cell.

3.3.3 OP5 substrate uptake during fermentation

Experiments were conducted to determine the rate of OP5 medium uptake by *Y. lipolytica* and to profile the constituents that were assimilated. Bulk substrate assimilation was measured gravimetrically over a 192 h period. *Y. lipolytica* used 39 percent of the bulk OP5 substrate by 120 hours, a lower amount than when grown on OP4 medium, when 53 percent was used by the same

timepoint (Figure 3.4a). By 192 hours, *Y. lipolytica* assimilated 62 percent of the bulk OP5 substrate, compared to 71 percent when grown on OP4 medium. The overall trend of substrate assimilation for the two media was similar.

An analysis of the composition of pre-fermentation OP5 medium in comparison to spent OP5 medium was carried out to determine which PP oil constituents were taken up by *Y. lipolytica* during the fermentation process (Figure 3.4b). OP5 medium was extracted into hexane at t = 0 h and t = 120 h, and the recovered analytes were quantified by GC/MS. The analysis showed 89 - 95 percent reduction in the peak area of all detected PP oil constituents (Figure 3.4b).

3.3.4 Starting medium pH and inoculum density significantly effect growth and lipogenesis

A grid design was used to assess interactions between pH and inoculum density. We examined several different parameters that have been reported to affect *Y. lipolytica* metabolite production by others, including pH, inoculum density, C:N ratio and osmolarity (Bouchedja et al. 2018; da Silva et al. 2018; Kuttiraja et al. 2018; Kuttiraja et al. 2016; Yang et al. 2015a; Zhang et al. 2019). We first investigated the impact of pH and inoculum density on growth, product yield and cell lipid content (Table 3.1). This was done by inoculating OP5 medium at varying initial pH (4.0, 5.0 and 6.0) at various inoculum densities (1.0, 3.0 and 6.0). We found that growth was the lowest at an inoculum density of 1.0 and pH = 4.0 (1.3 g L⁻¹) and highest at an inoculum density of 6.0 and pH = 5.0 (11.9 g L⁻¹) (Table 1). Conversely, the lipid content per cell was highest at an inoculum density of 1.0 and pH = 4.0 (1.4 g L⁻¹) and lowest at an inoculum density of 3.0, pH = 6.0. Hereafter, an inoculum density of 3.0 and pH = 6.0 was used for all further experiments.

Biomass ^a					
	$ID^{b} = 1.0$	ID = 3.0	ID = 6.0		
pН					
4.0	$\frac{1.31 \pm 0.08}{1.31 \pm 0.08}$	2.84 ± 0.57	$4.81\pm\ 0.08$		
рН					
5.0	1.38 ± 0.10	1.81 ± 0.09	11.89 ± 0.01		
pН					
6.0	1.70 ± 0.05	5.83 ± 0.16	4.25 ± 0.11		
	Lipid Yield ^a				
	ID=1.0	ID=3.0	ID=6.0		
pН					
4.0	0.78 ± 0.10	0.69 ± 0.08	0.65 ± 0.02		
рН					
5.0	0.42 ± 0.15	0.70 ± 0.16	1.01 ± 0.10		
pН					
6.0	0.85 ± 0.12	1.42 ± 0.62	1.19 ± 0.20		
Lipid Content ^c					
	ID=1.0	ID=3.0	ID=6.0		
рН					
4.0	0.59 ± 0.03	0.24 ± 0.03	0.14 ± 0.01		
pН					
5.0	0.30 ± 0.10	0.39 ± 0.09	0.09 ± 0.01		

Table 3.1 Effect of pH and inoculum density (ID) on *Y*. lipolytica growth and lipid production in OP5 medium.

pН			
6.0	0.50 ± 0.11	0.25 ± 0.10	0.28 ± 0.04

^{*a*} Biomass and lipid yield figures are presented as g L⁻¹ ^{*b*}ID, inoculum density (optical density, 600 nm). See Methods for details ^c Lipid content is the ratio of lipid mass to biomass

Highlighting: yellow, condition with highest lipid content; blue,

condition with highest biomass; green, condition with highest overall lipid production





Figure 3.4 (a) Growth medium assimilation was measure by gravimetric analysis. OP4 medium data after Mihreteab et al, 2019 (b) Metabolism of carbon compounds detected in OP5 spent media after 120 h of growth. Analysis by GC/MS.

3.3.5 Carbon-to-nitrogen ratio optimization improves lipid yield

Because of the laborious nature of the experiments, a grid design could not be used for all the variables; rather, we switched to a sequential approach, beginning with the C/N ratio. Biomass yields were highest at the initial C/N ratio of 40 (Figure 3.5). Lipid yields were best at a C/N ratio of 80, yielding 2.1 g L⁻¹. Lipid content was highest at a C/N ratio of 80 (46 percent), and lower at C/N ratios of 20 and 40 (Figure 3.5). As a C/N ratio of 80 was best for lipogenesis, this parameter was adopted for all further experiments.



Figure 3.5 Effect of C/N ratio on Y. lipolytica growth and lipid production. The corresponding cell lipid content is denoted above each graphic.

3.3.6 Increased osmolarity negatively affects lipogenesis

After an optimal C/N ratio was identified, osmolarity was examined to see how it affected *Y. lipolytica* lipogenesis. Osmolarity has been demonstrated elsewhere to be a variable that can influence cellular physiology and metabolism in *Y. lipolytica* (da Silva et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2015a). NaCl was added to optimized OP5 medium at concentrations of 0.75, 1.5, and 3 g L⁻¹. Increasing osmolarity through NaCl addition had an adverse effect on lipogenesis, and led to marked decreases in biomass yield, lipid yields, and cell lipid content (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6 Effect of osmolarity on Y. lipolytica growth and lipid production. The corresponding cell lipid content is denoted above each graphic.

3.3.7 Y. lipolytica used PP from OP5 for lipid, biomass generation

OP5 medium has several components, including the surfactant Tween® 80, that can affect growth and lipogenesis. To determine the contribution of individual medium components to *Y*. *lipolytica* lipogenesis during growth in OP5 medium, cells were grown on media composed strictly of PP ("PP only"), Tween® 80 ("Tween® 80 only"), and OP5 medium without PP oil ("Tween® 80 + nutrients"), and biomass and lipid yields were compared with those from growth in optimized OP5 medium (Figure 6). Cells grown on optimized OP5 medium had 2.6 times higher biomass yield and 5.3 times the lipid yield when compared to cells grown on the "Tween® 80 + nutrients" (Figure 3.7). By comparing the lipid yield from the optimized OP5 medium with that of "Tween 80 + nutrients", it was determined that 81 percent (1.7 g L⁻¹) of the lipids produced were attributable to carbon derived from PP, with the remainder (0.4 g L⁻¹) attributed to carbon from Tween® 80. This analysis excluded the possibility that the majority of fatty acids measured in the product were derived from Tween® 80 rather than from bioconversion of PP.



Figure 3.7 Comparison of biomass and lipid yields after growth on media prepared from each of the OP5 medium components.

3.3.8 Postconsumer PP oil carbon composition similar to virgin PP oil

The OP5 medium used in this work was prepared from virgin PP pellets. To determine if growth and product yield would differ if the source of PP were a postconsumer plastic, we prepared a postconsumer PP-derived OP5 medium termed PCOP5 (Figure 3.1). The carbon profiles of virgin and postconsumer PP pyrolysis oils were similar in that both PP oil sources had majority branched fatty alcohols (Figure 3.1c, 3.1d). Virgin PP oil contained 20 different compounds, with most of the carbon compounds (51%) being branched fatty alcohols, followed by branched alkenes (16%), cyclic compounds (12%), and straight chain alkenes (6%) (Figure 3.1c). In comparison, 25 different carbon compounds were found in postconsumer PP oil, with 61 percent of those carbon compounds being branched fatty alcohols, followed by cyclical compounds (15%), branched alkenes (8%) and straight chain alcohols (8%) (Figure 3.1d).

3.3.9 Postconsumer polypropylene impacts Y. lipolytica lipogenesis

Biomass yields were comparable to those measured during *Y. lipolytica* growth in OP5 medium (Figure 3.8a), but lipid yields during growth in OP5 medium were 300 percent higher than the lipid yields of cells grown in PCOP5 medium (Figure 3.8a). Average cell lipid content was also markedly lower in PCOP5 medium, with OP5-grown cells having an average lipid content of 45%, as compared to 17% for cells grown in PCOP5 medium (Figure 3.8a).

3.3.10 Fatty acid profiles for Y. lipolytica cells grown in OP5 or PCOP5 media

Intracellular FA profiles for *Y. lipolytica* cells grown on OP5 and PCOP5 for 120 hours were analyzed (Figure 3.8b, 3.8c). FA profiles were not complex for cells grown on either media, with only 4 FAs detected in each FA profile. Palmitic acid was the dominant FA on both OP5 and PCOP5, at 72 percent of FAs detected on OP5 grown cells and 81 percent for PCOP5 grown cells (Figure 3.8b, 3.8c). Pentadecanoic acid was present in OP5 grown cells, with 8.1 percent of the FA profile detected (Figure 3.8b), but it was not present in PCOP5 grown cells. Overall, FA profiles did not differ significantly when cells were grown on OP5 versus PCOP5 medium.

3.4 Discussion

Microbial bioconversion has potential for upcycling plastic waste into value-added biochemicals. In previous work, we demonstrated that thermal depolymerization of PP could be used to make a microbial growth medium suitable for *Y. lipolytica* to grow and produce fatty acids (Mihreteab et al., 2019). In this work, we report an improved PP-derived medium that did not require oleic acid as an emulsifier. By removing oleic acid, the amount of carbon derived from PP increased from 51 percent in OP4 medium to 77 percent in OP5 medium. Additionally, by optimizing the fermentation conditions, the lipid yield was more than 4 times greater compared to

the yield when *Y. lipolytica* grew in OP4 medium. These improvements are significant advances in developing a biological process for PP upcycling.



Figure 3.8 (a) Growth, lipid production and lipid content for cells grown on either OP5 or PCOP5 media; The corresponding cell lipid content is denoted above each graphic. Fatty acid profiles of cells grown on (b) OP5 medium or (c) PCOP5 medium.

Lipid storage by oleaginous yeast is a physiological adaptation to stress (Back et al. 2016; Fickers et al. 2005; Gonçalves et al. 2014; Kuttiraja et al. 2016; Pomraning et al. 2016; Rakicka et al. 2015b; Xu et al.; Zhang et al. 2019). This creates a challenge for maximizing the lipid yield because the per-cell lipid production is greatest when conditions for cell growth are poor, resulting in low biomass. Conversely, when conditions for cell growth are permissive, lipid storage is low. These behaviors were evident in the presented data in two places. First, a comparison between Y. lipolytica growth in OP4 medium versus OP5 medium demonstrated higher biomass accumulation during growth in OP4 medium but significantly greater cellular lipid content during growth in OP5 medium. These results correlate with the presence of easily assimilated oleic acid in OP4 medium, which was absent in OP5 medium. Second, at pH = 4.0 and low inoculum density, a more stressful condition, growth was the least and lipid content per cell was the greatest; conversely at pH = 6.0and high inoculum density, a more permissive condition, growth was the greatest but lipid content per cell was the lowest. The highest overall lipid yield occurred at pH = 6.0 and inoculum density of 3.0, a set of conditions which were intermediate relative to the others; it is notable that under these conditions, neither the growth nor the per-cell lipid content was the highest. These findings were comparable to previous studies, which showed that Y. *lipolytica* inoculum size affected both growth and product formation during fermentation, with lower inoculum density favoring higher cellular lipid content and higher inoculum density favoring biomass growth (Kucharczyk and Tuszyński 2015; Price et al. 2014; Rakicka et al. 2015b).

We decided to pursue a higher lipid yield by using as a starting point the inoculum density and pH that were most effective and then to optimize additional variables. Several environmental factors have been demonstrated to affect product formation in *Y. lipolytica*, including the C/N ratio and the osmolarity of the medium (Bellou et al. 2016; Kitcha and Cheirsilp 2011; Kuttiraja et al.

2016; Pomraning et al. 2016; Rakicka et al. 2015a; Zhang et al. 2019). A C/N ratio greater or equal to 80 resulted in an additional 50% increase in lipid yield; higher C/N ratios signal nitrogen scarcity, often resulting in lipid storage (Back et al. 2016; Kitcha and Cheirsilp 2011). In contrast, increasing osmolarity, which significantly influences erythritol formation in *Y. lipolytica*, did not have a positive effect of lipid formation (da Silva et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2019; Yang et al. 2015a) . Overall, parameter optimization resulted in a greater than 4-fold increase in lipid yield compared to the original cultivation conditions.

To simulate the real-world applicability of our process we investigated postconsumer PP which, unlike amorphous virgin PP, contains additives to promote stability and longevity. Some of the most common additives used in PP packaging include antioxidants, slip agents and heat stabilizers (Chen et al. 2008; El Mansouri et al. 1998; Hahladakis et al. 2018). We determined that growth was not adversely affected in PCOP5 medium, but lipid yields were significantly reduced compared to growth in OP5 medium. We hypothesize that heavy metal-based slip agents and organophosphate antioxidants, compounds used to delay oxidative stress caused by UV radiation, may be impeding lipogenesis in *Y. lipolytica* (Chen et al. 2008; El Mansouri et al. 1998; Hahladakis et al. 2018). It has been shown that antioxidants can impede lipogenesis in hepatocytes by preventing reactive oxygen species from inducing lipid accumulation (Yang et al. 2018a). Heavy metals such as cadmium, tin, and lead have also been shown to increase ER stress and lipid peroxidation in eukaryotic cells (Shinkai et al. 2010; Vlahogianni and Valavanidis 2007), and might be negatively influencing *Y. lipolytica* lipogenesis (Bankar et al. 2018a).

What approaches can be pursued to upcycle postconsumer PP and to further increase the product yield? In addition to optimizing growth conditions, altering the *Y. lipolytica* genome may be beneficial. Introducing heterologous organophosphate hydrolase genes may assist *Y. lipolytica*
in degrading organophosphate additives, possibly increasing lipid accumulation (Kang et al. 2006; Zinjarde et al. 2014). Engineered metabolite detoxification has been used elsewhere; for example, introduction of an exogenous gene to decrease inhibitory xylose concentrations improved lignocellulose bioconversion (Niehus et al. 2018). A similar strategy may benefit PP bioconversion. The impact of heavy metals on *Y. lipolytica* activity is not well understood, outside of their effects on *Y. lipolytica* dimorphism and biofilm formation (Bankar et al. 2018a; Bankar et al. 2018b). Steps to mitigate their impact on fatty acid production could include incorporating the DMT1 gene, a divalent metal ion transporter gene that mitigates cadmium uptake in rodent intestines, into the *Y. lipolytica* genome (Tallkvist et al. 2001). Additionally, several metabolic engineering strategies have been investigated to improve cell lipid content. These include introduction of loss of function mutations to lipid catabolism genes (Liu et al, 2015), and overexpression of native lipogenesis genes. In general, there are several approaches that can be employed to improve the lipid yield and the potential for a biological process for plastic upcycling warrants additional investigation.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Plastic waste continues to accumulate in the environment, and as conventional recycling becomes an ineffective solution to the plastic waste problem, biotechnology has become an increasingly favorable alternate (Cacciari et al. 1993; Guzik et al. 2014; Kenny et al. 2008; Mihreteab et al. 2019; Narancic and O'Connor 2017; Silva et al. 2018; Skariyachan et al. 2017; Syranidou et al. 2019; Ward et al. 2006; Wierckx et al. 2018; Wierckx et al. 2015). Biotechnological solutions to the plastic waste problem are a sustainable approach that can have a positive impact on the global plastic waste load. To be considered a feasible alternative, a bioprocess for plastic waste processing must be economically and industrially viable. These biotechnological strategies include hydrolysis of Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) by esterase producing bacteria (Chertkov O Fau - Sikorski et al. 2011; Kawai et al. 2014; Ribitsch et al. 2012; Tanasupawat et al. 2016; Yoshida et al. 2016), polystyrene and polyethylene degradation by mealworms (Brandon et al. 2018; Yang et al. 2018b; Yang et al. 2015b; Yang et al. 2015c), and incubation of mixed plastics with tailored microbial consortia (Skariyachan et al. 2017; Syranidou et al. 2019). These and other strategies have yielded promising results and offer sustainable alternatives to traditional recycling.

Our first work detailed a novel biotechnological process that employs *Yarrowia lipolytica*, an industrial workhorse than can utilize an extensive range of carbon sources (Abghari and Chen 2014; Ageitos et al. 2011; Aggelis 2002; André et al. 2009; Bialy et al. 2011; Chai et al. 2019; Dobrowolski et al. 2019; Dourou et al. ; Fickers et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2019; Niehus et al. 2018; Spagnuolo et al. 2018), as an oleaginous cell factory to produce fatty acids from a polypropylene-derived medium (Mihreteab et al. 2019). Our research showed that the process can be viable, but for it to be economical, our lipid output must be considerably increased. In our second work, we showed that improving our medium and augmenting fermentation parameters significantly increased biomass and lipid yield without sacrificing cell lipid content. By removing oleic acid as a surfactant from our media, we increased the amount of bio-available carbon available from PP oil from 51 percent to 87 percent.

This reduction in easily assimilated carbon via oleic acid initially led to lower biomass and lipid yields. To improve on this, we implemented a stepwise factor optimization model that centered on improving lipid yields by experimenting with four (4) parameters: (1) the starting pH of the OP5 medium, (2) the initial inoculum density with which the medium was inoculated, (3) the C/N ratio and (4) the osmolarity of the medium. Through adoption of the parameters that are most favorable for *Y. lipolytica* lipogenesis, we were able to increase lipid yields by 400 percent while maintaining a cell lipid content of 45 percent.

There was significant progress done in increasing the industrial viability of our process, but there are several factors to consider before scaling up this bioprocess. The main factor to consider is augmenting our process and strain to better manage postconsumer PP. While fermentation augmentation led to yield gains as high as 2.1gL⁻¹, this was done using virgin PP pellets purchased for research purposes. Postconsumer PP products have added plasticizers, flame retardants, and stabilizers that: these added compounds, often in the form of heavy metals and halogenated compounds, impede lipogenesis of our *Y. lipolytica* strain, as seen in the significantly lower yields (0.7 gL⁻¹) than achieved using virgin PP. We hypothesize improving our *Y. lipolytica* strain to better handle the stresses of metabolizing these additives should improve overall lipid yields. We also believe improving our pyrolysis process by instituting elements that would remove heavy metals and inorganic compounds from the PP oil would also improve yields by providing a better carbon source. Overall, our body of work has created an

industrially significant process to tackle the plastic waste crisis, and elucidated some obstacles to making this process scalable and economically viable.

REFERENCES

- Abari AH, Tayebi M (2019) Bioconversion of Genistein to Orobol by *Bacillus subtilis* spore displayed Tyrosinase and monitoring the Anticancer Effects of Orobol on MCF-7 Breast Cancer Cells. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 24:507-512
- Abdel-Mawgoud AM, Markham KA, Palmer CM, Liu N, Stephanopoulos G, Alper HS (2018) Metabolic engineering in the host *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Metab Eng 50:192-208
- Abdelkafi S, Sayadi S, Ali Gam ZB, Casalot L, Labat M (2006) Bioconversion of ferulic acid to vanillic acid by *Halomonas elongata* isolated from table-olive fermentation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 262:115-120
- Abghari A, Chen S (2014) *Yarrowia lipolytica* as an oleaginous cell factory platform for production of fatty acid-based biofuel and bioproducts. Front Energy Res 2:178-189
- Ageitos JM, Vallejo JA, Veiga-Crespo P, Villa TG (2011) Oily yeasts as oleaginous cell factories. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 90:1219-1227
- Aggelis S (2002) Lipid production by *Yarrowia lipolytica* growing on industrial glycerol in a single-stage continuous culture. Bioresour Technol 82:43-49
- Alam MZ, Bari MN, Muyibi SA, Jamal P, Abdullah Al M (2011) Development of culture inoculum for scale-up production of citric acid from oil palm empty fruit bunches by *Aspergillus niger*. Procedia Environ Sci 8:396-402
- Andrady AL, Neal MA (2009) Applications and societal benefits of plastics. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 364:1977-1984
- André A, Chatzifragkou A, Diamantopoulou P, Sarris D, Philippoussis A, Galiotou-Panayotou M, Komaitis M, Papanikolaou S (2009) Biotechnological conversions of bio-diesel-derived crude glycerol by *Yarrowia lipolytica* strains. Eng Life Sci 9:468-478
- Arruda PV, Felipe MGA (2008) Role of glycerol addition on Xylose-to-Xylitol bioconversion by *Candida guilliermondii*. Curr Microbiol 58:274
- Arutchelvi J, Sudhakar M, Arkatkar A, Doble M, Bhaduri S, Uppara PV (2008) Biodegradation of polyethylene and polypropylene. Indian J Biotechnol 12:14-26
- Asif T, Javed U, Zafar SB, Ansari A, Ul Qader SA, Aman A (2019) Bioconversion of colloidal chitin using novel chitinase from *Glutamicibacter uratoxydans* exhibiting anti-fungal potential by hydrolyzing chitin within fungal cell wall. Waste Biomass Valor 62:1214-1228
- Back A, Rossignol T, Krier F, Nicaud J-M, Dhulster P (2016) High-throughput fermentation screening for the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* with real-time monitoring of biomass and lipid production. Microb Cell Fact 15:247-262
- Bankar A, Zinjarde S, Shinde M, Gopalghare G, Ravikumar A (2018a) Heavy metal tolerance in marine strains of *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Extremophiles 22:617-628
- Bankar A, Zinjarde S, Telmore A, Walke A, Ravikumar A (2018b) Morphological response of *Yarrowia lipolytica* under stress of heavy metals. Can J Microbiol 64:559-566
- Beam HW, Perry JJ (1974) Microbial degradation and assimilation of n-alkyl-substituted cycloparaffins. J Bacteriol 118:394-399
- Bellou S, Triantaphyllidou IE, Mizerakis P, Aggelis G (2016) High lipid accumulation in *Yarrowia lipolytica* cultivated under double limitation of nitrogen and magnesium. J Biotechnol 234:116-126

- Beopoulos A, Mrozova Z, Thevenieau F, Le Dall M-T, Hapala I, Papanikolaou S, Chardot T, Nicaud J-M (2008) Control of lipid accumulation in the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Appl Environ Microbiol 74:7779-7789
- Bialy HE, Gomaa OM, Azab KS (2011) Conversion of oil waste to valuable fatty acids using oleaginous yeast. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 27:2791-2798
- Bligh EG, Dyer WJ (1959) A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Can J Biochem Physiol 37:911-917
- Bouchedja DN, Danthine S, Kar T, Fickers P, Sassi H, Boudjellal A, Blecker C, Delvigne F (2018) pH level has a strong impact on population dynamics of the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* and oil micro-droplets in multiphasic bioreactor. FEMS Microbiology Letters 365:245-257
- Brandon AA-O, Gao SH, Tian R, Ning D, Yang SS, Zhou J, Wu WM, Criddle CS (2018) Biodegradation of polyethylene and plastic mixtures in mealworms (marvae of *Tenebrio molitor*) and effects on the gut microbiome. Environ Sci Technol 11:6526-6533
- Cacciari I, Quatrini P, Zirletta G, Mincione E, Vinciguerra V, Lupattelli P, Sermanni GG (1993) Isotactic polypropylene biodegradation by a microbial community: physicochemical characterization of metabolites produced. Appl Environ Microbiol 59:3695-3700
- Canilha L, Chandel AK, Suzane dos Santos Milessi T, Antunes FAF, Luiz da Costa Freitas W, das Graças Almeida Felipe M, da Silva SS (2012) Bioconversion of sugarcane biomass into ethanol: an overview about composition, pretreatment methods, detoxification of hydrolysates, enzymatic saccharification, and ethanol fermentation. J Biomed Biotechnol 212:572-580
- Chai B, Wang Y, Wang W, Fan P (2019) Effect of carbon source on lipid accumulation and biodiesel production of *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 26:31234-31242
- Chen W, Yang Y, Lee CH, Shen AQ (2008) Confinement effects on the self-assembly of 1,3:2,4-Di-p-methylbenzylidene sorbitol based organogel. Langmuir 24:10432-10436
- Chertkov O Fau Sikorski J, Sikorski J Fau Nolan M, Nolan M Fau Lapidus A, Lapidus A Fau
 Lucas S, Lucas S Fau Del Rio TG, Del Rio Tg Fau Tice H, Tice H Fau Cheng J-F, Cheng Jf Fau - Goodwin L, Goodwin L Fau - Pitluck S, Pitluck S Fau - Liolios K, Liolios K Fau - Ivanova N, Ivanova N Fau - Mavromatis K, Mavromatis K Fau - Mikhailova N, Mikhailova N Fau - Ovchinnikova G, Ovchinnikova G Fau - Pati A, Pati A Fau - Chen A, Chen A Fau - Palaniappan K, Palaniappan K Fau - Djao ODN, Djao Od Fau - Land M, Land M Fau - Hauser L, Hauser L Fau - Chang Y-J, Chang Yj Fau - Jeffries CD, Jeffries Cd Fau - Brettin T, Brettin T Fau - Han C, Han C Fau - Detter JC, Detter Jc Fau - Rohde M, Rohde M Fau - Goker M, Goker M Fau - Woyke T, Woyke T Fau - Bristow J, Bristow J Fau - Eisen JA, Eisen Ja Fau - Markowitz V, Markowitz V Fau - Hugenholtz P, Hugenholtz P Fau - Klenk H-P, Klenk Hp Fau - Kyrpides NC, Kyrpides NC (2011) Complete genome sequence of *Thermomonospora curvata* type strain (B9).
- da Silva LV, Coelho MAZ, Amaral PFF, Fickers P (2018) A novel osmotic pressure strategy to improve erythritol production by *Yarrowia lipolytica* from glycerol. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 41:1883-1886
- Das N, Chandran P (2011) Microbial degradation of petroleum hydrocarbon contaminants: an overview. Biotechnol Res Int 2011:1-14
- Deguchi T, Kakezawa M Fau Nishida T, Nishida T (1997) Nylon biodegradation by lignindegrading fungi.
- Di Gioia D, Sciubba L, Ruzzi M, Setti L, Fava F (2009) Production of vanillin from wheat bran hydrolyzates via microbial bioconversion. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 84:1441-1448

- Dobrowolski A, Drzymała K, Rzechonek DA, Mituła P, Mirończuk AM (2019) Lipid production from waste materials in seawater-based medium by the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Front Microbiol 10:1-10
- Dulermo R, Gamboa-Meléndez H, Ledesma-Amaro R, Thévenieau F, Nicaud J-M (2015) Unraveling fatty acid transport and activation mechanisms in *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molec Cell Biol Lipids 1851:1202-1217
- El Mansouri H, Yagoubi N, Ferrier D (1998) Extraction of polypropylene additives and their analysis by HPLC. Chromatographia 48:491-496
- Fickers P, Benetti PH, Waché Y, Marty A, Mauersberger S, Smit MS, Nicaud JM (2005) Hydrophobic substrate utilisation by the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*, and its potential applications. FEMS yeast research 5:527-543
- Fontanille P, Kumar V, Christophe G, Nouaille R, Larroche C (2012) Bioconversion of volatile fatty acids into lipids by the oleaginous yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Bioresour Technol 114:443-449
- Friedlander J, Tsakraklides V, Kamineni A, Greenhagen EH, Consiglio AL, MacEwen K, Crabtree DV, Afshar J, Nugent RL, Hamilton MA, Joe Shaw A, South CR, Stephanopoulos G, Brevnova EE (2016) Engineering of a high lipid producing *Yarrowia lipolytica* strain. Biotechnol Biofuels 9:77-84
- Geyer R, Jambeck JR, Law KL (2017) Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made. Sci Adv 3:e1700782-e1700782
- Gonçalves FaG, Colen G, Takahashi JA (2014) *Yarrowia lipolytica* and Its multiple applications in the biotechnological industry. Sci World J 2014:1-14
- Gregg D, Saddler JN (1995) Bioconversion of lignocellulosic residue to ethanol: process flowsheet development. Biomass Bioenerg 9:287-302
- Guzik MW, Kenny ST, Duane GF, Casey E, Woods T, Babu RP, Nikodinovic-Runic J, Murray M, O'Connor KE (2014) Conversion of post consumer polyethylene to the biodegradable polymer polyhydroxyalkanoate. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98:4223-4232
- Hahladakis JN, Velis CA, Weber R, Iacovidou E, Purnell P (2018) An overview of chemical additives present in plastics: Migration, release, fate and environmental impact during their use, disposal and recycling. J Hazard Mater 344:179-199
- Hopewell J, Dvorak R, Kosior E (2009) Plastics recycling: challenges and opportunities. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B: Biol Sci 364:2115-2126
- Horvat M, Fiume G, Fritsche S, Winkler M (2019) Discovery of carboxylic acid reductase (CAR) from *Thermothelomyces thermophila* and its evaluation for vanillin synthesis. J Biotechnol 304:44-51
- Huang C, Chen X-F, Yang X-Y, Xiong L, Lin X-Q, Yang J, Wang B, Chen X-D (2014) Bioconversion of corncob acid hydrolysate into microbial oil by the oleaginous yeast *Lipomyces starkeyi*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 172:2197-2204
- Huang C, Luo M-T, Chen X-F, Qi G-X, Xiong L, Lin X-Q, Wang C, Li H-L, Chen X-D (2017) Combined "de novo" and "ex novo" lipid fermentation in a mix-medium of corncob acid hydrolysate and soybean oil by *Trichosporon dermatis*. Biotechnol Biofuels 10:21456-21464
- Jamal P, Alam MZ, Mohamad AB Microbial bioconversion of palm oil mill effluent to citric acid with optimum process conditions. In, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2007. 3rd Kuala Lumpur International Conference on Biomedical Engineering 2006. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, p 483-487

- Jeyakumar D, Chirsteen J, Doble M (2013) Synergistic effects of pretreatment and blending on fungi mediated biodegradation of polypropylenes. Bioresour Technol 148:78-85
- Jutakridsada P, Saengprachatanarug K, Kasemsiri P, Hiziroglu S, Kamwilaisak K, Chindaprasirt P (2019) Bioconversion of *Saccharum officinarum* leaves for ethanol production using separate hydrolysis and fermentation processes. Waste Biomass Valorization 10:817-825
- Kamisaka Y, Tomita N, Kimura K, Kainou K, Uemura H (2007) DGA1 (diacylglycerol acyltransferase gene) overexpression and leucine biosynthesis significantly increase lipid accumulation in the Δ snf2 disruptant of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biochem J 408:61-68
- Kang DG, Choi SS, Cha HJ (2006) Enhanced biodegradation of toxic organophosphate compounds using recombinant *Escherichia coli* with Sec Pathway-driven periplasmic secretion of organophosphorus hydrolase. Biotechnol Prog 22:406-410
- Kawai F, Oda M Fau Tamashiro T, Tamashiro T Fau Waku T, Waku T Fau Tanaka N, Tanaka N Fau Yamamoto M, Yamamoto M Fau Mizushima H, Mizushima H Fau Miyakawa T, Miyakawa T Fau Tanokura M, Tanokura M (2014) A novel Ca(2)(+)-activated, thermostabilized polyesterase capable of hydrolyzing polyethylene terephthalate from *Saccharomonospora viridis* AHK190. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 90:10053-10061
- Kenny ST, Runic JN, Kaminsky W, Woods T, Babu RP, Keely CM, Blau W, O'Connor KE (2008) Up-cycling of PET (Polyethylene Terephthalate) to the biodegradable plastic PHA (Polyhydroxyalkanoate). Environ Sci Technol 42:7696-7701
- Kim J-E, Lee NH, Kim YH, Kim YE, Lim T-G, Song K-M (2020) Enhancement of the apoptotic effects of *Arctii Fructus* extracts on cancer cells by the enzymatic bioconversion of lignans. Food Sci Nutr 8:2205-2213
- Kitcha S, Cheirsilp B (2011) Screening of oleaginous yeasts and optimization for lipid production using crude glycerol as a carbon source. Energy Procedia 9:274-282
- Klug L, Daum G (2014) Yeast lipid metabolism at a glance. FEMS Yeast Res 14:369-388
- Kreuger E, Sipos B, Zacchi G, Svensson S-E, Björnsson L (2011) Bioconversion of industrial hemp to ethanol and methane: the benefits of steam pretreatment and co-production. Bioresour Technol 102:3457-3465
- Kucharczyk K, Tuszyński T (2015) The effect of pitching rate on fermentation, maturation and flavour compounds of beer produced on an industrial scale. J Inst Brew 121:349-355
- Kuo H-J, Wei Z-Y, Lu P-C, Huang P-L, Lee K-T (2014) Bioconversion of pinoresinol into matairesinol by use of recombinant *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 80:2687-2692
- Kuttiraja M, Dhouha A, Tyagi RD (2018) Harnessing the effect of pH on lipid production in batch cultures of *Yarrowia lipolytica* SKY7. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 184:1332-1346
- Kuttiraja M, Douha A, Valéro JR, Tyagi RD (2016) Elucidating the effect of glycerol concentration and C/N ratio on lipid production using *Yarrowia lipolytica* SKY7. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 180:1586-1600
- Lazar Z, Liu N, Stephanopoulos G (2018) Holistic approaches in lipid production by *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Trends Biotechnol 11:1157-1170
- Li Z, Guo X, Feng X, Li C (2015) An environment friendly and efficient process for xylitol bioconversion from enzymatic corncob hydrolysate by adapted *Candida tropicalis*. Chem 263:249-256
- Liu L, Pan A, Spofford C, Zhou N, Alper HS (2015) An evolutionary metabolic engineering approach for enhancing lipogenesis in *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Metabol Eng 29:36-45

- Liu X, Lv J, Xu J, Xia J, Dai B, Xu X, Xu J (2017) Erythritol production by *Yarrowia lipolytica* mutant strain M53 generated through atmospheric and room temperature plasma mutagenesis. Food Sci Biotechnol 26:979-986
- Liu X, Yan Y, Zhao P, Song J, Yu X, Wang Z, Xia J, Wang X (2019) Oil crop wastes as substrate candidates for enhancing erythritol production by modified *Yarrowia lipolytica* via one-step solid state fermentation. Bioresour Technol 294:122194
- Longo C, Savaris M, Zeni M, Brandalise RN, Grisa AMC (2011) Degradation study of polypropylene (PP) and bioriented polypropylene (BOPP) in the environment. Mater Res 14:442-448
- Luziatelli F, Brunetti L, Ficca AG, Ruzzi M (2019) Maximizing the efficiency of vanillin production by biocatalyst enhancement and process optimization. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 7:2144-2150
- Makri A, Fakas S, Aggelis G (2010) Metabolic activities of biotechnological interest in *Yarrowia lipolytica* grown on glycerol in repeated batch cultures. Bioresour Technol 101:2351-2358
- Mantia FPL (2004) Polymer Mechanical Recycling: Downcycling or Upcycling? Prog Rubber Plast 20:14-20
- Marella ER, Holkenbrink C, Siewers V, Borodina I (2018) Engineering microbial fatty acid metabolism for biofuels and biochemicals. Curr Opin Biotechnol 50:39-46
- Markets Ra (2017) Global Polypropylene (PP) Market Report 2017: \$100+ Billion Market Size, Demand Forecasts, Industry Trends and Updates 2016-2022 - Research and Markets.
- Mauersberger S, Ohkuma M, Schunck WH, Takagi M (1996) *Candida maltosa*: Nonconventional Yeasts in Biotechnology: A Handbook. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 411-580
- Mihreteab M, Stubblefield BA, Gilbert ES (2019) Microbial bioconversion of thermally depolymerized polypropylene by *Yarrowia lipolytica* for fatty acid production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 103:7729-7740
- Milanesio J, Hegel P, Medina-González Y, Camy S, Condoret J-S (2013) Extraction of lipids from *Yarrowia lipolytica*. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 88:378-387
- Miura M, Matsumoto N, Seino K, Shimotori Y, Nakatani H, Aoyama M (2015) Bioconversion of bamboo grass culm hydrolyzate into xylitol by yeast *Candida Magnoliae*. Cell Chem Technol 49:807-812
- Mlíčková K, Roux E, Athenstaedt K, d'Andrea S, Daum G, Chardot T, Nicaud J-M (2004) Lipid accumulation, lipid body formation, and acyl coenzyme A oxidases of the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:3918-3924
- Murphy DJ (2001) The biogenesis and functions of lipid bodies in animals, plants and microorganisms. Prog Lip Res 40:325-438
- Nanda S, Dalai AK, Kozinski JA (2014) Butanol and ethanol production from lignocellulosic feedstock: biomass pretreatment and bioconversion. Energ Sci Eng 2:138-148
- Narancic T, O'Connor Kevin E (2017) Microbial biotechnology addressing the plastic waste disaster. Microb Biotechnol 10:1232-1235
- Niehus X, Crutz-Le Coq A-M, Sandoval G, Nicaud J-M, Ledesma-Amaro R (2018) Engineering *Yarrowia lipolytica* to enhance lipid production from lignocellulosic materials. Biotechnol Biofuels 11:11-20
- North EJ, Halden RU (2013) Plastics and environmental health: The road ahead. Rev Environ Health 28:1-8

- Paidimuddala B (2014) Bioconversion of non-detoxified hemicellulose hydrolysates to xylitol by halotolerant yeast *Debaryomyces nepalensis* NCYC 3413. J Microb Biochem Technol 06:116-123
- Paik M-J, Kim H, Lee J, Brand J, Kim K-R (2009) Separation of triacylglycerols and free fatty acids in microalgal lipids by solid-phase extraction for separate fatty acid profiling analysis by gas chromatography. J Chrom A 1216:5917-5923
- Pandey RP, Chu LL, Kim TS, Sohng JK (2018) Bioconversion of tetracycline antibiotics to novel glucoside derivatives by single-vessel multienzymatic glycosylation. J Microbiol Biotechnol 28:298-304
- Papanikolaou S, Aggelis G (2011) Lipids of oleaginous yeasts. Part I: Biochemistry of single cell oil production. Eur J Lip Sci Tech 113:1031-1051
- Parmar I, Rupasinghe HPV (2013) Bio-conversion of apple pomace into ethanol and acetic acid: Enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation. Bioresour Technol 130:613-620
- Patel A, Matsakas L (2018) A comparative study on de novo and ex novo lipid fermentation by oleaginous yeast using glucose and sonicated waste cooking oil. Ultrason Sonochem 6:119-126
- Pomraning KR, Kim Y-M, Nicora CD, Chu RK, Bredeweg EL, Purvine SO, Hu D, Metz TO, Baker SE (2016) Multi-omics analysis reveals regulators of the response to nitrogen limitation in *Yarrowia lipolytica*. BMC Genomics 17:138
- Price EJ, Linforth RST, Dodd CER, Phillips CA, Hewson L, Hort J, Gkatzionis K (2014) Study of the influence of yeast inoculum concentration (Yarrowia lipolytica and Kluyveromyces lactis) on blue cheese aroma development using microbiological models. Food Chemistry 145:464-472
- Prof_Research_Reports (2008) Polypropylene (PP) Industry 2009-2019 Global and Chinese Market Analysis.
- Qiao K, Imam Abidi SH, Liu H, Zhang H, Chakraborty S, Watson N, Kumaran Ajikumar P, Stephanopoulos G (2015) Engineering lipid overproduction in the oleaginous yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Metab Eng 29:56-65
- Rakicka M, Lazar Z, Dulermo T, Fickers P, Nicaud JM (2015a) Lipid production by the oleaginous yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* using industrial by-products under different culture conditions. Biotechnol Biofuels 8
- Rakicka M, Lazar Z, Dulermo T, Fickers P, Nicaud JM (2015b) Lipid production by the oleaginous yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* using industrial by-products under different culture conditions. Biotechnol Biofuels 8:104-104
- Ribitsch D, Herrero Acero E, Greimel K, Dellacher A, Zitzenbacher S, Marold A, Rodriguez RD, Steinkellner G, Gruber K, Schwab H, Guebitz GM (2012) A new esterase from *Thermobifida halotolerans* hydrolyses Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) and Polylactic Acid (PLA). Polymers 4:617-629
- Rostron KA, Lawrence CL (2017) Nile Red Staining of Neutral Lipids in Yeast Histochemistry of Single Molecules. Methods in Molecular Biology. Humana Press, New York, NY, pp 219-229
- Saini R, Hegde K, Brar SK, Vezina P (2020) Advanced biofuel production and road to commercialization: An insight into bioconversion potential of *Rhodosporidium sp.* Biomass Bioenerg 132:105439
- Scott DS, Czernik SR, Piskorz J, Radlein DSAG (1990) Fast pyrolysis of plastic wastes. Energ Fuels 4:407-411

- Shao L, Li J, Liu A, Chang Q, Lin H, Chen D (2013) Efficient bioconversion of Echinocandin B to its nucleus by overexpression of deacylase genes in different host strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:1126-1133
- Shinkai Y, Yamamoto C, Kaji T (2010) Lead induces the expression of endoplasmic reticulum chaperones GRP78 and GRP94 in vascular endothelial cells via the JNK-AP-1 pathway. Toxicol Sci 114:378-386
- Silva AB, Costa MF, Duarte AC (2018) Biotechnology advances for dealing with environmental pollution by micro(nano)plastics: Lessons on theory and practices. Micro and Nanoplastics Edited by Dr Teresa AP Rocha-Santos 1:30-35
- Skariyachan S, Setlur AS, Naik SY, Naik AA, Usharani M, Vasist KS (2017) Enhanced biodegradation of low and high-density polyethylene by novel bacterial consortia formulated from plastic-contaminated cow dung under thermophilic conditions. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 9:8443-8457
- Soják L, Kubinec R, Jurdáková H, Hájeková E, Bajus M (2007) High resolution gas chromatographic–mass spectrometric analysis of polyethylene and polypropylene thermal cracking products. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 78:387-399
- Spagnuolo M, Shabbir Hussain M, Gambill L, Blenner M (2018) Alternative Substrate Metabolism in *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Front Microbiol 9:1024-1031
- Syranidou E, Karkanorachaki K, Amorotti F, Avgeropoulos A, Kolvenbach B, Zhou N-Y, Fava F, Corvini PFX, Kalogerakis N (2019) Biodegradation of mixture of plastic films by tailored marine consortia. J Hazard Mater 375:33-42
- Tai M, Stephanopoulos G (2013) Engineering the push and pull of lipid biosynthesis in oleaginous yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* for biofuel production. Metabol Eng 15:1-9
- Tallkvist J, Bowlus CL, Lönnerdal B (2001) DMT1 gene expression and cadmium absorption in human absorptive enterocytes. Toxicol 122:171-177
- Tanasupawat S, Takehana T, Yoshida S, Hiraga K, Oda K (2016) *Ideonella sakaiensis* sp. nov., isolated from a microbial consortium that degrades poly(ethylene terephthalate). Int J Sys Evol Microbiol 66:2813-2818
- Tang PL, Hassan O (2020) Bioconversion of ferulic acid attained from pineapple peels and pineapple crown leaves into vanillic acid and vanillin by *Aspergillus niger* I-1472. BMC Chem 14:7
- Thevenieau F, Beopoulos A, Desfougeres T, Sabirova J, Albertin K, Zinjarde S, Nicaud JM (2010) Uptake and assimilation of hydrophobic substrates by the oleaginous yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. In: Timmis KN (ed) Handbook of Hydrocarbon and Lipid Microbiology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 1513-1527
- Vandamme EJ (1981) Use of microbial enzyme and cell preparations to synthesise oligopeptide antibiotics. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 31:637-659
- Vlahogianni TH, Valavanidis A (2007) Heavy-metal effects on lipid peroxidation and antioxidant defence enzymes in mussels *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Chem Ecol 23:361-371
- Wang F, Gong J, Zhang X, Ren Y, Zhang J (2018) Preparation of biocolorant and eco-dyeing derived from polyphenols based on laccase-catalyzed oxidative polymerization. Polymers 10:196-203
- Wang S-L, Yen Y-H, Tzeng G-C, Hsieh C (2005) Production of antifungal materials by bioconversion of shellfish chitin wastes fermented by *Pseudomonas fluorescens* K-188. Enz Microb Technol 36:49-56

- Ward PG, Goff M, Donner M, Kaminsky W, O'Connor KE (2006) A two step chemobiotechnological conversion of polystyrene to a biodegradable thermoplastic. Environ Sci Technol 40:2433-2437
- Wierckx N, Narancic T, Eberlein C, Wei R, Drzyzga O, Magnin A, Ballerstedt H, Kenny ST, Pollet E, Avérous L, O'Connor KE, Zimmermann W, Heipieper HJ, Prieto A, Jiménez J, Blank LM (2018) Plastic Biodegradation: Challenges and Opportunities. Consequences of Microbial Interactions with Hydrocarbons, Oils, and Lipids: Biodegradation and Bioremediation:1-29
- Wierckx N, Prieto MA, Pomposiello P, de Lorenzo V, O'Connor K, Blank LM (2015) Plastic waste as a novel substrate for industrial biotechnology. Microb Biotechnol 8:900-903
- Xu P, Qiao K, Ahn WS, Stephanopoulos G (2016) Engineering *Yarrowia lipolytica* as a platform for synthesis of drop-in transportation fuels and oleochemicals. PNAS 113:10848-10853
- Xue Z, Sharpe PL, Hong S-P, Yadav NS, Xie D, Short DR, Damude HG, Rupert RA, Seip JE, Wang J, Pollak DW, Bostick MW, Bosak MD, Macool DJ, Hollerbach DH, Zhang H, Arcilla DM, Bledsoe SA, Croker K, McCord EF, Tyreus BD, Jackson EN, Zhu Q (2013) Production of omega-3 eicosapentaenoic acid by metabolic engineering of *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Nature Biotechnol 31:734
- Yan J, Zheng X, Du L, Li S (2014) Integrated lipase production and in situ biodiesel synthesis in a recombinant *Pichia pastoris* yeast: an efficient dual biocatalytic system composed of cell free enzymes and whole cell catalysts. Biotechnol Biofuels 7:55
- Yang J-P, Shin J-H, Seo S-H, Kim S-G, Lee SH, Shin E-H (2018a) Effects of antioxidants in reducing accumulation of fat in hepatocytes. Int J Mol Sci 19:2563-2570
- Yang L-B, Dai X-M, Zheng Z-Y, Zhu L, Zhan X-B, Lin C-C (2015a) Proteomic analysis of erythritol-producing *Yarrowia lipolytica* from glycerol in response to osmotic pressure. J Microbiol Biotechnol 25:1056-1069
- Yang S-S, Brandon AM, Andrew Flanagan JC, Yang J, Ning D, Cai S-Y, Fan H-Q, Wang Z-Y, Ren J, Benbow E, Ren N-Q, Waymouth RM, Zhou J, Criddle CS, Wu W-M (2018b) Biodegradation of polystyrene wastes in yellow mealworms (larvae of *Tenebrio molitor Linnaeus*): Factors affecting biodegradation rates and the ability of polystyrene-fed larvae to complete their life cycle. Chemosphere 191:979-989
- Yang Y, Yang J, Wu W-M, Zhao J, Song Y, Gao L, Yang R, Jiang L (2015b) Biodegradation and mineralization of polystyrene by plastic-eating mealworms: Part 1. Chemical and physical characterization and isotopic tests. Environ Sci Technol 49:12080-12086
- Yang Y, Yang J, Wu W-M, Zhao J, Song Y, Gao L, Yang R, Jiang L (2015c) Biodegradation and mineralization of polystyrene by plastic-eating mealworms: Part 2. role of gut microorganisms. Environ Sci Technol 49:12087-12093
- Yang Z, Bai Z, Sun H, Yu Z, Li X, Guo Y, Zhang H (2014) Biomass pyrolysis liquid to citric acid via 2-step bioconversion. Microb Cell Fact 13:182
- Yoshida S, Hiraga K, Takehana T, Taniguchi I, Yamaji H, Maeda Y, Toyohara K, Miyamoto K, Kimura Y, Oda K (2016) A bacterium that degrades and assimilates poly(ethylene terephthalate). Science 351:1196-1199
- Yu B, Jin L, Xia H, Lu Y, Dong M (2019) Bioconversion of Cassava Stem to Ethanol Using Aspergillus fumigatus and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Bioresour Biotechnol 14:14
- Zhang H, Zhang L, Chen H, Chen YQ, Chen W, Song Y, Ratledge C (2014) Enhanced lipid accumulation in the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* by over-expression of ATP:citrate lyase from *Mus musculus*. J Biotechnol192:78-84

- Zhang S, Jagtap SS, Deewan A, Rao CV (2019) pH selectively regulates citric acid and lipid production in *Yarrowia lipolytica* W29 during nitrogen-limited growth on glucose. J Biotechnol 290:10-15
- Zheng Y, Lee C, Yu C, Cheng Y-S, Simmons CW, Zhang R, Jenkins BM, VanderGheynst JS (2012) Ensilage and bioconversion of grape pomace into fuel ethanol. J Agric Food Chem 60:11128-11134
- Zhu M, Xu W, Li X Bioconversion of different paper sludge to ethanol by yeast using separate hydrolysis and fermentation. In: Proceedings of 2012 International Conference on Biobase Material Science and Engineering, 21-23 Oct. 2012 2012. p 141-145
- Zinjarde S, Apte M, Mohite P, Kumar AR (2014) *Yarrowia lipolytica* and pollutants: Interactions and applications. Biotechnol Adv 32:920-933
- Zumstein MT, Helbling DE (2019) Biotransformation of antibiotics: Exploring the activity of extracellular and intracellular enzymes derived from wastewater microbial communities. Water Res 155:115-123